

Appropriate Assessment Screening Report

For

Strategic Housing Development at Milltown, Ashbourne

prepared for Armstrong Fenton Associates

on behalf of Arnub Ltd. & Aspect Homes (ADC) Ltd.

Scott Cawley, College House, 71 – 73 Rock Road, Blackrock, Co. Dublin, A94 F9X9, Ireland

Tel+353(1)676-9815 Fax +353(1)676-9816

Document Control

Project Title	Ashbourne Strategic Development	Housing	Project No.	200181
Document Title	Appropriate Assessment Screening Report		Status	Final
Revision	Issue Date	Author	Reviewed By	Approved By
11	31/08/2022	SQ	NB	TR

© Copyright Scott Cawley Limited.

This report has been prepared by Scott Cawley Ltd. for the sole use of our client (the 'Client') and, unless otherwise agreed in writing by Scott Cawley Ltd., no other party may use, make use of or rely on the contents of this report. No liability is accepted by Scott Cawley Ltd. for any use of this report, other than the purpose for which it was prepared.

This report has been prepared by Scott Cawley Ltd. in accordance with the particular instructions and requirements of our agreement with the Client, the project's budgetary and time constraints and in line with best industry standards. The methodology adopted and the sources of information used by Scott Cawley Ltd. in providing its services are outlined in this report. The scope of this report and the services are defined by these circumstances.

Where the conclusions and recommendations contained within this document are based upon information provided by others than Scott Cawley Ltd., no liability is accepted on the validity or accuracy of that information. It is assumed that all relevant information has been provided by those parties from whom it has been requested and that the information is true and accurate. No independent verification of any documentation or information supplied by others has been made.

The conclusions presented in this report represent Scott Cawley Ltd.'s best professional judgement based on review of site conditions observed during the site visit (if applicable) and the relevant information available at the time of writing. Scott Cawley Ltd. has used reasonable skill, care and diligence in compiling this report and no warranty is provided as to the report's accuracy.



Table of Contents

Intr	oduction	. 1
Met	hodology	. 1
2.1	Guidance	. 1
2.2	Assessment Methodology	. 2
2.3	Desktop Data Review	. 3
2.4	Consultations	. 4
2.5	Baseline Surveys	. 4
Prov	vision of Information for Screening for Appropriate Assessment	. 6
3.1	Description of the Proposed Development	. 6
3.2	Overview of the Receiving Environment	. 7
3.3	Assessment of Effects on European Sites	11
Con	clusions of Screening Assessment Process	18
	Intra Met 2.1 2.2 2.3 2.4 2.5 Prov 3.1 3.2 3.3 Con	Introduction Methodology 2.1 Guidance 2.2 Assessment Methodology 2.3 Desktop Data Review 2.4 Consultations 2.5 Baseline Surveys Provision of Information for Screening for Appropriate Assessment 3.1 Description of the Proposed Development 3.2 Overview of the Receiving Environment 3.3 Assessment of Effects on European Sites Conclusions of Screening Assessment Process

Appendix I

The Qualifying Interests (QIs) and Special Conservation Interests (SCIs) of the European sites in the vicinity of the proposed development site (see Figure 1)

Appendix II

Planning polices/objectives relating to the protection of European sites and water quality

Appendix III

Hydrological & Hydrogeological Qualitative Risk Assessment for A Proposed Masterplan and SHD in Lands at Milltown, Ashbourne, Co. Meath (AWN, 2022)

1 Introduction

- 1 This report, which contains information required for the competent authority (in this instance An Bord Pleanála) to undertake a screening for Appropriate Assessment (AA), has been prepared by Scott Cawley Ltd. on behalf of the applicant Arnub Ltd. & Aspect Homes (ADC) Ltd. It provides information on, and assesses the potential in view of best scientific knowledge for, the proposed development to impact on the Natura 2000 network (hereafter referred to as European sites)¹. The proposed development consists of a strategic housing development with 702 number residential units, associated ancillary roads, drainage pumping and services infrastructure, located in Milltown Ashbourne, Co. Meath.
- 2 An AA is required if significant effects on European sites arising from a proposed development cannot be ruled out at the screening stage, either alone or in combination with other plans or projects. It is the responsibility of the competent authority to make a decision as to whether or not the proposed development is likely to have significant effects on European sites, either individually or in combination with other plans or projects.

For the reasons set out in detail in this AA Screening Report, a Stage Two <u>Appropriate Assessment of the</u> <u>proposed development is not required in this instance</u> as it can be concluded, on the basis of objective information, that the proposed development, either individually or in combination with other plans or projects, will not have a significant effect on any European sites.

2 Methodology

2.1 Guidance

- 3 This Appropriate Assessment Screening Report has been prepared with regard to the following guidance documents, as relevant:
 - OPR Practice Note PN01. Appropriate Assessment Screening for Development Management (Office of the Planning Regulator, 2021)
 - Appropriate Assessment of Plans and Projects in Ireland Guidance for Planning Authorities. (Department of Environment, Heritage and Local Government, 2010 revision)
 - Appropriate Assessment under Article 6 of the Habitats Directive: Guidance for Planning Authorities. Circular NPW 1/10 & PSSP 2/10
 - Assessment of Plans and Projects in Relation to Natura 2000 sites: Methodological Guidance on Article 6(3) and (4) of the Habitats Directive 92/43/EEC (European Commission, 2021)
 - Communication from the Commission on the precautionary principle (European Commission, 2000), and

¹ The Natura 2000 network is a European network of important ecological sites, as defined under Article 3 of the Habitats Directive 92/43/EEC, which comprises both special areas of conservation and special protection areas. Special conservation areas are sites hosting the natural habitat types listed in Annex I, and habitats of the species listed in Annex II, of the Habitats Directive, and are established under the Habitats Directive itself. Special protection areas are established under Article 4 of the Birds Directive 2009/147/EC for the protection of endangered species of wild birds. The aim of the network is to aid the long-term survival of Europe's most valuable and threatened species and habitats.

In Ireland these sites are designed as European sites - defined under the Planning Acts and/or the Birds and Habitats Regulations as (a) a candidate site of Community importance, (b) a site of Community importance, (c) a candidate special area of conservation, (d) a special area of conservation, (e) a candidate special protection area, or (f) a special protection area. They are commonly referred to in Ireland as Special Areas of Conservation (SACs) and Special Protection Areas (SPAs).

• Managing Natura 2000 Sites: The Provisions of Article 6 of the Habitat's Directive 92/43/EEC (European Commission, 2019)

2.2 Assessment Methodology

- ⁴ The above referenced guidance sets out a staged process for carrying out Appropriate Assessment. To determine if an Appropriate Assessment is required, documented screening is required. Screening identifies the potential for effects on the conservation objectives of European sites, if any, which would arise from a proposed plan or project, either alone or in combination with other plans and projects (i.e. likely significant effects).
- 5 Significant effects on a European site are those that would undermine the conservation objectives supporting the favourable conservation condition of the Qualifying Interest (QI) habitats and/or the QI/Special Conservation Interest (SCI) species of a European site(s).
- 6 Screening for Appropriate Assessment involves the following steps:





Conclusions of screening assessment process

- 7 If the conclusions at the end of screening are that there is no likelihood of significant effects occurring on any European sites as a result of the proposed plan or project, either alone or in combination with other plans and projects, then there is no requirement to undertake an Appropriate Assessment.
- 8 In establishing which European sites are potentially at risk (in the absence of mitigation) from the proposed development, a source-pathway-receptor approach was applied. In order for an impact to occur, there must be a risk enabled by having a source (e.g. water abstraction or construction works), a receptor (e.g. a European site or its QI(s) or SCI(s)²), and a pathway between the source and the receptor (e.g. pathway by air for airborne pollution, or a pathway by a watercourse for mobilisation of pollution). For an impact to occur, all three elements must exist; the absence or removal of one of the elements means there is no possibility for the impact to occur.
- 9 The identification of source-pathway-receptor connection(s) between the proposed development and European sites essentially is the process of identifying which European sites are within the Zone of Influence (ZoI) of the proposed development, and therefore potentially at risk of significant effects. The ZoI is the area over which the proposed development could affect the receiving environment such that it could potentially have significant effects on the QI habitats or QI/SCI species of a European site, or on the achievement of their conservation objectives³.
- 10 The identification of a source-pathway-receptor link does not automatically mean that significant effects will arise. The likelihood for significant effects will depend upon the characteristics of the source (e.g. extent and duration of construction works), the characteristics of the pathway (e.g. direction and strength of prevailing winds for airborne pollution) and the characteristics of the receptor (e.g. the sensitivities of the European site and its QIs/SCIs).
- 11 The 'likely significant effects' test is based on the precautionary principle⁴. The precautionary principle means that, based on the most reliable available information, where there is uncertainty or doubt as to the absence of significant effects, the project cannot be screened out and an appropriate assessment must be carried out.

2.3 Desktop Data Review

12 The desktop data sources used to inform the assessment presented in this report are as follows (accessed on the August 2022):

² The term Qualifying Interest is used when referring to the habitats or species for which an SAC is designated; the term Special Conservation Interest is used when referring to the bird species (or wetland habitats) for which an SPA is designated.

³ As defined in the Guidelines for Ecological Impact Assessment in the UK and Ireland (CIEEM, 2018)

⁴ The precautionary principle is a guiding principle that derives from Article 191 of the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union and has been developed in the case law of the European Court of Justice (e.g. ECJ case C-127/02 – Waddenzee, Netherlands).

The guidance document *Communication from the Commission on the Precautionary Principle* (European Commission, 2000) notes that the precautionary principle "covers those specific circumstances where scientific evidence is insufficient, inconclusive or uncertain and there are indications through preliminary objective scientific evaluation that there are reasonable grounds for concern that the potentially dangerous effects on the environment, human, animal or plant health may be inconsistent with the chosen level of protection".

- Online data available on European sites and protected habitats/species as held by the National Parks and Wildlife Service (NPWS) from <u>www.npws.ie</u>⁵, including conservation objectives documents
- Online data available on protected species as held by the National Biodiversity Data Centre (NBDC) from <u>www.biodiversityireland.ie</u>
- Information on the surface water network and surface water quality in the area available from <u>www.epa.ie</u>
- Information on groundwater resources and groundwater quality in the area available from <u>www.epa.ie</u> and <u>www.gsi.ie</u>
- Ordnance Survey of Ireland mapping and aerial photography available from <u>www.osi.ie</u>
- Information on the location, nature and design of the proposed development supplied by the applicant's design team
- Meath County Development Plan 2021 2027 (Meath County Council, 2021)
- Hydrological & Hydrogeological Qualitative Risk Assessment for Proposed Masterplan and SHD in Lands at Milltown, Ashbourne, Co. Meath (AWN, 2022).

2.4 Consultations

13 A consultation letter was submitted by email to the Development Applications Unit of NPWS, Department of Housing, Local Government and Heritage on 6th December 2021. The letter included an outline description of the proposed development, and a request for comments on the proposal. No response was received by Scott Cawley Ltd., prior to submission of the planning application for the proposed development.

2.5 Baseline Surveys

14 This section describes the ecological surveys carried out to inform the assessment of likely significant effects on European sites.

2.5.1 Habitats and Flora Survey

A habitat survey was undertaken of the proposed development site on the 31st August 2020 by Alexis Fitzgerald B.Sc. M.Sc. of Scott Cawley Ltd., and on the 18th June 2021 and 20th April 2022 by Síofra Quigley B.Sc. (Hons) M.Sc. also of Scott Cawley Ltd. following the methodology described in *Best Practice Guidance for Habitat Survey and Mapping*⁶. All habitat types were classified using the *Guide to Habitats in Ireland*⁷, recording the indicator species and abundance using the DAFOR scale⁸ and recording any species of conservation interest. Vascular and bryophyte plant nomenclature generally follow that of *The National Vegetation Database*⁹, having regard to more recent taxonomic changes to species names after the *New*

⁵ The following SAC and SPA GIS boundary datasets are the most recently available at the time of writing: SAC_ITM_2022_08 and SPA_ITM_2021_10.

⁶ Smith, G.F., O'Donoghue, P., O'Hora, K. & Delaney, E. (2011) *Best Practice Guidance for Habitat Survey and Mapping*. The Heritage Council Church Lane, Kilkenny, Ireland.

⁷ Fossitt, J.A. (2000) A Guide to Habitats in Ireland. Heritage Council, Kilkenny.

⁸ The DAFOR scale is an ordinal or semi-quantitative scale for recording the relative abundance of plant species. The name DAFOR is an acronym for the abundance levels recorded: Dominant, Abundant, Frequent, Occasional and Rare.

⁹ Weekes, L.C. & FitzPatrick, Ú. (2010) The National Vegetation Database: Guidelines and Standards for the Collection and Storage of Vegetation Data in Ireland. Version 1.0. Irish Wildlife Manuals, No. 49. National Parks and Wildlife Service, Department of Environment, Heritage and Local Government, Dublin, Ireland.

Flora of the British Isles¹⁰ and the British Bryological Society's Mosses and Liverworts of Britain and Ireland: A Field Guide¹¹.

2.5.2 Fauna Surveys

2.5.2.1 Terrestrial Mammals (excluding Bats)

15 Terrestrial fauna surveys (excluding bats) were undertaken on the 31st August 2020 by Alexis Fitzgerald, and resurveyed on the 18th June 2021 and 20th April 2022 by Síofra Quigley. The presence/absence of terrestrial fauna species were surveyed through the detection of field signs such as tracks, markings, feeding signs, and droppings, as well as by direct observation. The habitats on site were assessed for signs of usage by protected/red-listed fauna species, and their potential to support these species. Surveys to check for the presence of badger setts within the study area, and to record any evidence of use, were also undertaken.

2.5.2.2 Breeding Birds

Several breeding bird surveys were undertaken on the following dates; 23rd April 2021 by Síofra Quigley and Cathal O'Brien B.Sc. (Hons), 1st June 2021 by Wayne Daly B.Sc. (Hons), 11th June 2021, and on the 20th April 2022 by Síofra Quigley, using a methodology adapted from the *Bird Monitoring Methods - A Manual of Techniques for Key UK Species* ¹². Lands within the study area were slowly walked in a manner allowing the surveyor to come within 50m of all habitat features. Birds were identified by sight and song, and general location and activity were recorded using the British Trust for Ornithology (BTO) species and activity codes. The barns and sheds within the proposed development site were also checked for nesting suitability and evidence of barn swallows, house martins, and barn owls.

2.5.2.3 Wintering Birds

17 Wintering bird surveys were undertaken on the 16th February 2021 by Laura Higgins B.Sc. (Hons), on the 3rd March 2021 by Lorna Gill B.Sc. (Hons), on the 25th March 2022 by Wayne Daly B. Sc. (Hons), using a modified methodology¹³ based on the *Bird Monitoring Methods - A Manual of Techniques for Key UK Species*. Lands were surveyed by a walkover of the area to identify birds which may be using the fields for foraging and identifying evidence of usage by wildfowl such as swans or geese (e.g. droppings). Birds were identified by sight and general location and activity were recorded using the British Trust for Ornithology (BTO) species and activity codes.

¹⁰ Stace, C. (2019) New Flora of the British Isles. 4th Edition. C&M Floristics.

¹¹ Atherton, I., Bosanquet, S. & Lawley, M. (2010) *Mosses and Liverworts of Britain and Ireland: A Field Guide*. Latimer Trend & Co., Plymouth.

¹² Gilbert, G., Gibbons, D.W. & Evans, J. (1998) *Bird Monitoring Methods - A Manual of Techniques for Key UK Species*. RSPB: Sandy

¹³ Wintering bird surveys were carried out during February and March 2021 and 2022. Whilst this is considered late in the season and deviates from the methodology of 1 survey a month during winter for 2 year (Gilbert et al., 1998), the habitats within the proposed development site are comprised of agricultural grassland, managed for cattle grazing. This habitat type provides little habitat for wintering bird species, such as geese and waders, who primarily nest and roost in estuaries, and wetlands, along Ireland's coastline. Geese also feed on crops and coastal grasslands, such as amenity grassland in Dublin City. Neither of these habitats are present within the proposed development site, and as such this is not considered a limitation.

3 Provision of Information for Screening for Appropriate Assessment

- 18 The following sections provide information to facilitate the Appropriate Assessment screening of the proposed development to be undertaken by the competent authority.
- 19 A description of the proposed development and the receiving environment is provided to identify the potential ecological impacts. The environmental baseline conditions are discussed, as relevant to the assessment of ecological impacts where they may highlight potential pathways for impacts associated with the proposed development to affect the receiving ecological environment (e.g. hydrogeological and hydrological data).
- 20 The potential impacts are examined in order to define the potential zone of influence of the proposed development on the receiving environment. This then informs the assessment of whether the proposed development will result in significant effects on any European site; i.e. affect the conservation objectives supporting the favourable conservation condition of the European site's QIs or SCIs.

3.1 Description of the Proposed Development

- 21 Arnub Ltd. & Aspect Homes (ADC) Ltd. intend to apply to An Bord Pleanála for permission for a strategic housing development, on an overall site of c. 20.04 hectares, located in the townlands of Baltrasna and Milltown, Ashbourne, County Meath. The application site is located to the west / south-west of Dublin Road (R135), south-west of Cherry Lane, west of the existing dwellings at The Briars and Cherry Court, south of the existing dwellings at Alderbrook Heath, Alderbrook Downs & Alderbrook Rise, east / south-east of the existing dwellings at Tara Close & Tara Place, and north-west and south-west of Hickey's Lane.
- 22 The development will consist of the following:
 - The demolition of all existing structures on site, comprising 3 no. single storey dwellings and their associated outbuildings (total demolition area: c.659m²)
 - The construction of 702 no. residential dwellings comprised of: 420 no. 2 & 3 storey 2, 3, 4, & 5 bed houses, 38 no. 2 & 3 bed duplex units in 19 no. 3 storey buildings, and 244 no. 1, 2, & 3 bed apartments in 20 no. buildings ranging in height from 3 to 6 storeys. The development also includes for the following non-residential uses: (i) 2 no. childcare facilities located in Blocks A and A1 (c. 289m² & c.384m² respectively), (ii) 4 no. retail units comprised of: 2 no. units in Block A (c.106m² & c.174m² respectively), 1 no. unit in Block A1 (c.191m²), & 1 no. unit in Block B1 (c.469m²), and (iii) 1 no. GP practice / medical use unit located in Block A1 (c.186m²).
 - Vehicular access to the development will be via 2 no. access points as follows: (i) from Cherry Lane, located off Dublin Road (R135), in the north-east of the site and, (ii) from Hickey's Lane, located off Dublin Road (R135), to the east of the site. The development includes for road upgrades / improvement works to both Cherry Lane and Hickey's Lane and their junctions with Dublin Road (R135). The development includes for 1 no. pedestrian / bicycle green link access point from Dublin Road (R135) and also includes for pedestrian and cycle paths throughout the site.
- 23 The development provides for an area of c.1 hectare reserved for a future school site and playing pitch at the western boundary of the site. The development provides for a basement level car park located under Block A1 (c. 4,095m2) and, 2 no. undercroft car parks located at the ground floor level of Block A (c. 466m2) and Block B1 (c. 1,466m2).
- 24 The development also provides for (i) all ancillary / associated site development works above and below ground, (ii) public open spaces (c.28,885m2 total), including hard & soft landscaping, play equipment & boundary treatments, (iii) communal open spaces (c.3,180m2 total) (iv) undercroft, basement, and surface car parking, including for EV, mobility impaired, and car share parking spaces (total 1,262 no. car parking spaces) (v) 869 no. dedicated bicycle parking spaces at undercroft and surface level, including for external bicycle stores & visitor spaces (vi) bin storage, (vii) public lighting, (viii) signage (ix) plant (M&E) & utility services, including for 7 no. ESB sub-stations (x) green roofs, all on an overall application site area of 20.04 hectares.

Surface water

- 25 There is an existing 375mm surface water line located opposite Cherry Lane on the Dublin Road. The existing Fairyhouse Stream is located to the south of the subject site; it is proposed to discharge the outflow of the surface water drainage to this stream.
- 26 Surface water runoff from the site will be limited to greenfield runoff rates (Qbar) in accordance with the Greater Dublin Strategic Drainage Study (GDSDS). Storms up to the 30-year critical storm with an additional 20% allowance for climate change will be stored underground in attenuation systems such as Stormtech or similar approved. Storms up to the 100 year critical storm with an additional 20% allowance for climate change in detention/infiltration basins.
- 27 Surface water discharge rates from the proposed surface water drainage network will be controlled by a vortex flow control device (Hydrobrake or equivalent) and associated underground geo-cellular attenuation systems (Stormtech or approved equivalent). Surface water discharge will also pass via a Class 1 separator (sized in accordance with permitted discharge from the site).
- 28 The proposed surface water drainage network will collect surface water runoff from the site via a piped network prior to discharging off site via the attenuation tank, flow control device and separator arrangement as noted above. Surface water runoff from the site's road network and roofs will be directed to the proposed pipe network via conventional road gullies while surface water runoff from driveways will be captured by permeable paving.
- 29 The design will include Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems (SuDS) which will be incorporated to reduce run-off volumes and improve run-off water quality. These features will be provided to cater for up to a 1-in-100 year rainfall event and 20% climate change. It should be noted that these SuDS measures have not been taken into account in the subsequent analysis and are not in place for the protection of European sites.
- 30 A Flood Risk Assessment, prepared by DBFL sets out that the proposed development area is fully within Flood Zone C. This indicates a low risk of fluvial, pluvial, groundwater and coastal flooding (less than 0.1% AEP or 1 in 1000 chance of flooding in a given year). Therefore, any flood events will not cause flooding of the Proposed Masterplan, and the development will not affect the flood storage volume or increase flood risk elsewhere.

Foul water

- 31 The proposed development site has no existing foul loading as it is currently a greenfield site. According to the Infrastructure Design Report, there is an existing 225/300mm foul sewer which is located immediately to the west of the subject site in the Dublin Road.
- 32 The site has been divided in two areas for the purposes of foul drainage management. The northern half of the site will discharge via gravity to an existing foul manhole in the Dublin Road via Cherry Lane. The units in the southern portion of the site will discharge to an existing foul sewer located in Hickeys Lane. All connections are to be agreed with Irish Water prior to commencement.
- 33 The Infrastructure Design Report for the proposed SHD estimated a foul peak flow of 24.75 l/s (for 702 no. residential units). Therefore, the total 800 no. residential units would generate a peak flow of 28.26 l/s. The foul water from the proposed development eventually discharges to the Ringsend WasteWater Treatment Plant (WWTP) which in turn discharges into Dublin Bay.

3.2 Overview of the Receiving Environment

3.2.1 European sites

34 The proposed development does not overlap with any European sites. The nearest European sites are Malahide Estuary SAC and Malahide Estuary SPA, located *c*. 12.6km and *c*. 12.7km east of the proposed development, respectively. The nearest surface water feature to the site, the Fairyhouse Stream is located *c*. 300m south of the proposed development. This stream flows c. 3.2km downstream in a south-easterly direction, where it joins with the Broadmeadow River. The Broadmeadow River flows for a further 11.3km downstream where it ultimately discharges into the Malahide Estuary, and subsequently, the European sites therein *i.e.*, Malahide Estuary SAC and Malahide Estuary SPA.

- 35 Rogerstown Estuary SAC and Rogerstown Estuary SPA are the only other European sites within *c*. 15km of the proposed development site, located *c*. 13.1km and *c*. 14km east of the proposed development site.
- 36 Foul waters from the proposed development will join the public sewer and will be treated at the Ringsend WWTP prior to subsequent discharge to Dublin Bay. Therefore, there is an indirect hydrological link between the proposed development site and Dublin Bay, and the European sites within, i.e., South Dublin Bay SAC, North Dublin Bay SAC, South Dublin Bay and River Tolka Estuary SPA, and North Bull Island SPA. These European sites are considered to be within the potential zone of influence of the proposed development, as all of these sites are located downstream of the proposed development site within Dublin Bay.
- 37 There are no other European sites in the vicinity of the proposed development, or hydrological pathways to any other European sites, with all other European sites over 15km away.
- 38 All of the European sites present in the vicinity of the proposed development are shown on Figure 1 below. The QIs/SCIs of the European sites in the vicinity of the proposed development are provided in Appendix I.



Figure 1 European sites in the vicinity of the proposed development

3.2.2 Habitats

39 The proposed development site is located in the 10km Grid Square O05 at O 06579 51368 on the outskirts of Ashbourne town. The lands comprise of 11 agricultural fields separated by hedgerows, drainage ditches and treelines. Cattle graze regularly on the southern, eastern, and north western fields. Four residential houses (one currently occupied), and three sheds/barns are also present within the proposed development site. Agricultural fields border the lands to the west and south, with residential areas and the town of Ashbourne to the north and east of the proposed development site. The following habitat types (and

mosaics of these), assigned using the Heritage Council Classification System⁷, were identified within the proposed development site:

- Buildings and artificial surfaces (BL3)
- Drainage ditches (FW4)
- Improved agricultural grassland (GA1)
- Dry meadows and grassy verges (GS2)
- Wet grassland (GS4)
- Hedgerows (WL1)
- Treelines (WL2)
- 40 None of the habitats within the proposed development site corresponded to Annex I Habitats, are not located within and do not provide a supporting role to any Annex I habitats connected with any European site. Overall, the habitats located within the footprint of the proposed development have limited ecological value.

3.2.3 Flora and Fauna Species

- 41 No protected plant species contained within the Flora (Protection) Order, 2022, rare plant species contained within Ireland Red List No. 10 Vascular Plants (Wyse Jackson *et al.*, 2016), or species listed on Irelands Red List No. 8: Bryophytes (Lockhart *et al.*, 2012) were identified on the NBDC database search of records within *c*. 2km of the site, or recorded within the proposed development site during habitat surveys.
- 42 No non-native, invasive plant species listed on the Third Schedule of the European Communities (Birds and Natural Habitats) Regulations, 2011 were identified on the NBDC database search of records within *c*. 2km of the site or recorded within the proposed development site during habitat surveys.
- 43 The NBDC desktop study holds four records for one QI species, otter Lutra Lutra, within c. 2km of the proposed development site, the most recent record being from 2016 on the Broadmeadow River located c. 1km north of the proposed development site. There are no surface water features within the proposed development site, the nearest watercourse is the Fairyhouse Stream, located c. 300m south of the site. The site therefore holds no suitability for this species. There are no European sites hydrologically connected to the Fairyhouse stream that are designated for otter species, with the closest being the River Boyne and River Blackwater SAC, located c. 20km north of the proposed development site, of which the proposed development is not connected via any surface water feature to the River Boyne.
- ⁴⁴ The NBDC desktop study also holds records for two SCI bird species within *c*. 2km of the proposed development site, redshank *Tringa tetanus* and golden plover *Pluvialis apricaria*, for which European sites within *c*. 15km are designated. One record of redshank was recorded in 1984 from the same grid square in which the proposed development site is located; 005¹⁴. There were four records of golden plover, with the most recent from 2011 also record in grid square 005, for the Bird Atlas 2007 2011. Golden plover typically breeds within blanket bog habitat in the uplands of the west of Ireland, and overwinters in a variety of habitats, most commonly being found in coastal and estuarine habitats. Redshank are not a regular breeding species in Ireland, however coasts, lakes and the River Shannon Callows and tributaries do support small breeding populations of this species. Redshank are a widespread and common visitor during the winter months in wetlands and coasts, favouring mudflats, large estuaries and inlets. These species were not identified during any of the bird surveys carried out within the proposed development site in 2021 and 2022, and the site is largely unsuitable for both species as the habitats within are predominately used for agricultural uses.

¹⁴ recorded for The First Atlas of Wintering Birds in Britain and Ireland: 1981/82-1983/84

- 45 During wintering bird surveys carried out in February and March 2021 and March 2022, one SCI species from nearby European sites were identified within the lands, herring gull, an SCI species of Ireland's Eye SPA located c. 23km south east of the Masterplan. This species was identified flying over the site on numerous occasions and observed foraging in one of the fields in 2022. Due to the distance between the Masterplan and this European site (i.e., over 20km), it is unlikely that the herring gull SCI population use the Masterplan as foraging grounds, particularly given the low numbers observed on one occasion.
- 46 There is no suitable habitat for light-bellied Brent goose *Branta bernicla hrota*, greylag goose and/or other SCI wintering bird species such as waders onsite. Light-bellied Brent geese and wintering waders regularly use Dublin's amenity parks and sports grounds for foraging. The nearest known light-bellied Brent goose site is c. 14km south east the proposed development site at Broadmeadow/Seatown East Fields (Scott Cawley Ltd., 2017). Given that there is no suitable foraging habitat, i.e., open amenity grassland onsite, the proposed development site is unsuitable for light-bellied Brent goose, and/or other SCI wintering bird species that use similar habitat for foraging within County Dublin and surrounds. The proposed development is not on any known migrating routes of wintering bird species or located on any flight path for ex-situ SCI species.
- 47 The wet grassland habitat provides some suitable habitat for wading species such as snipe, which was identified in this habitat during surveys in 2022. There is limited habitat for waterfowl species however due to the lack of open waterbodies in the site.
- 48 The treelines and scrub offer suitable foraging habitat and shelter for smaller overwintering species such as passerines for example redwings *Turdus iliacus* and fieldfare *Turdus pilaris*, redwing was identified flying through the site during surveys in 2021.
- 49 No protected and/or rare flora were recorded in the proposed development site.
- 50 There were no signs or tracks of QI species, of any European site present onsite.

3.2.3.1 Invasive species

- 51 With regards to non-native invasive species, the NBDC database search returned records for grey squirrel *Sciurus carolinensis* and sika deer *Cervus nippon* which are listed on the Third Schedule of the European Communities (Birds and Natural Habitats) Regulations, 2011. Grey squirrel was recorded in 2007 *c*. 1.2km north of the proposed development site in Ashbourne town, whilst sika deer was last recorded in 2008, c. 1.1km south of the site. Neither species was identified during surveys carried out in 2020 or 2021 within the proposed development site.
- 52 No non-native, invasive plant species listed on the Third Schedule of the European Communities (Birds and Natural Habitats) Regulations, 2011 were recorded within the proposed development site, or were identified on an NBDC database search of records within c. 2km of the proposed development.

3.2.4 Hydrology

- 53 The proposed development site is located within the Broadmeadow sub-catchment of the Nanny-Delvin catchment. The site falls within the Fairyhouse Stream WFD River Sub Basin, which drains to Malahide Estuary. There are no surface water features within or in the immediate vicinity of the proposed development site. The nearest surface water feature to the site, the Fairyhouse Stream is located *c*. 300m south of the proposed development. This stream flows c. 3.2km downstream in a south easterly direction, where it joins with the Broadmeadow River. The Broadmeadow River continues *c*. 11.3km downstream where it ultimately discharges into the Malahide Estuary. and supports habitats and qualifying interest species of the Malahide Estuary SAC, and special conservation interest bird species (and their supporting wetland habitats) of the Malahide EstuarySPA.
- 54 According to the EPA online Map Viewer, the Fairyhouse Stream has a Q-Value of "3" which is of "poor" water quality status. The EPA gather this information from the monitoring station near Harlockstown, (a bridge located *c.* 500m upstream of where the portion of Fairyhouse Stream is closest to the proposed

development discharges into the main Fairyhouse Stream) using invertebrate indices. Further downstream, the Fairyhouse Stream has a Q-Value of "4", which is of "good" water quality status, measured at the bridge at Donaghmore Crossroads River Station. The Fairyhouse Stream is considered "at risk" of not achieving good status under the Water Framework Directive (WFD). The Fairyhouse Stream is a tributary of the Broadmeadow River and joins c. 2.5km south east of the proposed development site. The Broadmeadow River has a Q-Value of "3", this is gathered upstream of where the Fairyhouse Stream joins with the Broadmeadow River, at Milltown Bridge River Station. The Broadmeadow River is also considered "at risk" of not achieving good status under the WFD. The Broadmeadow River flows *c.* 11.3km downstream where it discharges into Malahide Estuary, of which is considered "at risk" of not achieving good water quality status under the WFD.

- 55 Foul waters from the proposed development will ultimately discharge to the Dublin Bay via Ringsend WWTP. Dublin Bay has a WFD status of 'Good'. Presently the Liffey Estuary Lower waterbody has a WFD risk score of 'At risk of not achieving good status' while the Dublin Bay waterbody has a WFD risk score of 'Not at risk'. The ecological status (which comprises biological and chemical status) of transitional and coastal water bodies during 2013-2018 for Liffey Estuary Lower and Dublin Bay is classed as 'Good'.
- 56 The most recent surface water quality data for the Liffey Estuary Lower and Dublin Bay (2019-2020) indicates that Liffey Estuary Lower is classified as 'intermediate', while Dublin Bay is classified as 'Unpolluted'. Under the 2015 'Trophic Status Assessment Scheme' classification of the EPA, 'Unpolluted' means there have been no breaches of the EPA's threshold values for nutrient enrichment, accelerated plant growth, or disturbance of the level of dissolved oxygen normally present.

3.2.5 Hydrogeology

- 57 Geological Survey of Ireland (GSI) data indicates that the proposed development is underlain by "Locally Important Aquifer" (LI), bedrock which is moderately productive only in local zones. The site is located in an area of "low" vulnerability in relation to the underlying aquifer.
- 58 The groundwater body (GWB) underlying the proposed development site is the "Swords" GWB. Which is currently classified by the EPA as having "good" groundwater status under the WFD and the groundwater risk is classed as "not at risk". The Swords GWB overlaps with four European sites, Malahide Estuary SAC and SPA and Rogerstown Estuary SAC and SPA, neither of which have any qualifying interest groundwater dependent habitats.

3.3 Assessment of Effects on European Sites

- 59 This section identifies all the potential impacts associated with the proposed development, examines whether there are any European sites within the Zol of effects from the proposed development, and assesses whether there is any risk of the proposed development resulting in a significant effect on any European site, either alone or in combination with other plans or projects.
- 60 In assessing the potential for the proposed development to result in a significant effect on any European sites, any measures intended to avoid or reduce the harmful effects of the project on European sites are not taken into account.

3.3.1 Habitat loss and fragmentation

- 61 The proposed development does not overlap with the boundary of any European site. Therefore, there are no European sites at risk of direct habitat loss impacts.
- 62 As the proposed development does not traverse any European sites there is no potential for habitat fragmentation to occur.
- ⁶³ The proposed development site does not support populations of any fauna or bird species linked with the QI/SCI populations of any European site.
- 64 As the proposed development will not result in habitat loss or habitat fragmentation within any European site, there is no potential for any in combination effects to occur in that regard.

3.3.2 Habitat degradation as a result of hydrological impacts

- 65 There are a number of drainage ditches located along the site boundary. These ditches discharge to the existing Fairyhouse stream to the south. There is an existing 375mm surface water line located opposite Cherry Lane on the Dublin Road. Surface water run-off and discharges from the Masterplan will drain to the existing local surface water drainage network. The EPA maps identify a small tributary to the Fairyhouse Stream c. 130 m to the south of the Masterplan boundary. The Fairyhouse Stream flows eastwards c. 470 m to the south of the subject site. The Broadmeadows River crosses Ashbourne and is located c. 560 m to the north of the site. The Fairyhouse Stream joins the Broadmeadows River c. 2.2 Km to the east of the proposed Masterplan. The Broadmeadows outfalls into the Malahide Estuary c. 12 Km to the east of the Masterplan. Therefore, the Zol of potential effects on water quality from the Masterplan could extend to Malahide Estuary and the European sites therein.
- 66 There will also be an indirect discharge to South Dublin Bay through the foul water drainage. The Masterplan site has no existing foul loading as it is currently a greenfield site. According to the Infrastructure Design Report, there is an existing 225/300mm foul sewer which is located immediately to the west of the subject site in the Dublin Road. The site has been divided in two areas for the purposes of foul drainage management. The northern half of the site will discharge via gravity to an existing foul manhole in the Dublin Road via Cherry Lane. The units in the southern portion of the site will discharge to an existing foul sewer located in Hickeys Lane. The foul water from the proposed Masterplan eventually discharges to the Ringsend Waste Water Treatment Plant (WWTP) which in turn discharges into Dublin Bay.
- 67 Therefore, the Zol of potential effects on water quality from the Masterplan could extend to Dublin Bay the European sites therein.

Surface Water

- 68 Surface water run-off and discharges from the proposed development will enter the downstream receiving environment via the proposed surface water drainage network.
- 69 Considering the following, the proposed development will not have any measurable effects on water quality in Malahide Estuary, Dublin Bay or the Irish Sea:
 - The scale and location of the proposed development relative to the receiving surface water network
 - The relatively low volume of any surface water run-off or discharge events from the proposed development site relative to the receiving surface water and marine environments, and
 - The level of mixing, dilution and dispersion of any surface water run-off/discharges from the proposed development site in the receiving watercourses, Malahide Estuary, Dublin Bay and the Irish Sea
- 70 A hydrological and hydrogeological qualitative risk assessment report was prepared for the proposed development by AWN Consulting¹⁵ (AWN, 2022). The assessment was carried out using a conceptual site model (CSM) which was based on a good understanding of the hydrological and hydrogeological environment, plausible sources of impact and knowledge of receptor requirements. This allows possible source-pathway-receptor linkages to be identified. Potential sources of impacts during construction and operation are considered in the CSM and all potential sources of contamination are considered without taking account of any measures intended to avoid or reduce harmful effects of the proposed development (design or mitigation measures) i.e. a worst-case scenario.

¹⁵ AWN Consulting (2022) Hydrological & Hydrogeological Qualitative Risk Assessment for Proposed Residential Development at Ashbourne, Co. Meath

- 71 Results of the CSM carried out by AWN and which inform this AA screening report (See Appendix III), indicate that surface run-off from the proposed development, during both construction and operational phases respectively, will not result in any perceptible impact on water quality in downstream receiving waters in Malahide Estuary and Dublin Bay (and thus in the European sites therein). The CSM also considered in-combination effects and concluded that there would be no perceptible impact on water quality as a result of the proposed development in-combination with surface water arising from other developments.
- 72 In line with good practice, effective measures have been included in the construction design, management of construction programme and during the operational phase of the proposed development. However, it must be noted that these are included in the design, not for the purposes of avoiding or reducing any potential harmful effects to any European sites but are required for new developments under the objectives of the Greater Dublin Strategic Drainage Study, Meath County Council Development Plan and the Dublin City Development Plan, and in line with good construction practice. As stated, the CSM prepared by AWN was done in the absence of consideration of any of these measures i.e., the CSM was based on a worst case scenario, and even without these measures in place, it was concluded that there will be no impact on downstream European sites as a result of the proposed development.
- 73 Therefore, the CSM concluded that there is no possibility of the proposed development undermining the conservation objectives of any of the qualifying interests or special conservation interests of the European sites in, or associated with, Malahide Estuary or Dublin Bay as a result of surface water run-off or discharges.

Foul Water

- 74 The foul waters from the proposed development will connect to the existing public foul water sewer network, with the northern half of the site discharging to an existing foul manhole in the Dublin Road via Cherry Lane, and the southern portion of the site will discharge to an existing foul sewer located in Hickey's Lane. The foul water from the proposed development eventually discharges to the Ringsend WWTP which in turn discharges into Dublin Bay.
- 75 Foul water, comprising sewage and industrial effluent (and some surface water run-off), from the Dublin area has historically been, and will continue to be, treated at Ringsend WwTP prior to discharge to Dublin Bay. The most recent information from Irish Water indicates that the plant is operating above its capacity of 1.64 million P.E. (Irish Water, 2020)¹⁶, with a current operational loading of c.2.2 million P.E. Ringsend WwTP operates under a discharge licence from the EPA (D0034-01) and must comply with the licence conditions.
- 76 Despite the capacity issues associated with the Ringsend WwTP, Dublin Bay is currently classified by the EPA as being of "Unpolluted" water quality status¹⁷. The Liffey Estuary Lower is currently classified by the EPA as being of "Intermediate" water quality status, and of 'Good' WFD status, the Tolka Estuary as "Eutrophic", and the Tolka River is of 'Moderate' WFD status. The pollutant content of future foul water discharges to Dublin Bay is considered likely to decrease in the long-term for the following reasons:
 - Irish Water are currently undertaking a major upgrade of the Ringsend WwTP to increase the plant's wastewater treatment capacity to a population equivalent of 2.4 million, which is programmed for completion in 2025¹⁸; and
 - There is a commitment in the National Development Plan 2021-2030 to invest in and progress the Greater Dublin Drainage Project which includes the development of a new regional waste water

¹⁶ Annual Environmental Report, Ringsend D0034-01 (Irish Water, 2020)

¹⁷ Transitional and Coastal Surface Water Quality data (2018-2020) accessed from the EPA Envision Mapviewer <u>www.gis.epa.ie/Envision</u> (accessed August 2022)

¹⁸ <u>https://www.water.ie/projects/local-projects/ringsend/</u> (accessed August 2022)

treatment facility and associated infrastructure to serve Dublin and parts of the surrounding counties of Kildare and Meath. The project will involve the provision of a new regional wastewater treatment plant at a site in the northern part of the Greater Dublin Area and the provision of a new Orbital Drainage Sewer linking the new plant to the existing regional sewer network, which will enable future connections for identified areas of development within the catchment area. The provision of the Greater Dublin Drainage Project will augment the wastewater treatment capacity currently provided by Ringsend WwTP across the Greater Dublin Area and alleviate pressure within the existing wider waste water network and help to ensure that the waste water generated is treated safely, in compliance with the EU and national waste water treatment regulations.

It is also an objective of the Greater Dublin Strategic Drainage Study, and all development plans within the catchment of Ringsend WwTP, to include Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems (SUDS) within new developments. The relevant development plans also have protective policies/objectives in place to protect water quality in the receiving freshwater and marine environments, and to implement the Water Framework Directive in achieving good water quality status for Dublin Bay.

- According to AWN (2022), in relation to the proposed development "peak wastewater discharge is 77 calculated at an average wastewater discharge of 28.26 litres/sec. The sewage discharge will be licensed by Irish Water, collected in the public sewer and treated at Irish Water's WwTP at Ringsend prior to discharge to Dublin Bay. This WwTP is required to operate under an EPA licence (D0034-01) and to meet environmental legislative requirements. The plant has received planning (2019) and is being upgraded with increased treatment capacity over the next five years. The peak foul discharge calculated for the proposed amendment is well within the capacity of the WWTP. Even without treatment at the Ringsend WWTP, the peak effluent discharge, calculated for the proposed amendment as 28.26 litres/sec (which would equate to 0.25% of the licensed discharge at Ringsend WWTP [peak hydraulic capacity]), would not impact on the overall water quality within Dublin Bay and therefore would not have an impact on the current Water Body Status (as defined within the Water Framework Directive). This assessment is supported by hydrodynamic and chemical modelling within Dublin Bay which has shown that there is significant dilution for contaminants of concern (DIN and MRP) available quite close to the outfall for the treatment plant (WwTP 2012 EIS, WwTP 2018 EIAR)". The AWN report also concludes that the cumulative or in-combination effects of effluent arising from the proposed development with that of other developments discharging to Ringsend WWTP will not be significant having regard to the size of the calculated discharge from the proposal.
- 78 Considering the above, particularly the current unpolluted status of Dublin Bay, and that foul water discharges from the proposed development would equate to a very small percentage of the overall discharge volumes sent to Ringsend WwTP for treatment, it is concluded that the proposed development will not impact on the overall water quality status of Dublin Bay.
- 79 Therefore, there is no possibility of the proposed development undermining the conservation objectives of any of the qualifying interests or special conservation interests of the European sites in, or associated with, Dublin Bay as a result of foul water discharges.

In Combination

80 There is potential for "in-combination" effects on water quality in Malahide Estuary and Dublin Bay from any other projects carried out within the functional areas of the Meath County Development Plan 2021 – 2027 (Meath County Council, 2021), the Fingal Development Plan 2017-2023 (Fingal County Council, 2017), and Dublin City Development Plan 2016 – 2022 (Dublin City Council, 2016), or any other land use plans which could influence conditions in Malahide Estuary, Dublin Bay or the Irish Sea via rivers and other surface water features.

- 81 The Eastern & Midland Regional Assembly, Regional Spatial & Economic Strategy 2019-2031¹⁹ (Eastern & Midland Regional Assembly, 2019) includes a range of policy objectives relevant to the protection of European sites and the protection of water quality in Dublin Bay, to which the relevant planning authorities must have regard to in the preparation and adoption of their development plans (included in Appendix II).
- 82 Plans and developments within Meath County must comply with the following policy objectives of the Meath County Development Plan 2021 – 2027 relevant to the protection of European sites and the protection of water quality:

HER POL 31: To ensure that the ecological impact of all development proposals on habitats and species are appropriately assessed by suitably qualified professional(s) in accordance with best practice guidelines – e.g. the preparation of an Ecological Impact Assessment (EcIA), Screening Statement for Appropriate Assessment, Environmental Impact Assessment, Natura Impact Statement (NIS), species surveys etc. (as appropriate).

HER POL 32:To permit development on or adjacent to designated Special Areas of Conservation, Special Protection Areas, Natural Heritage Areas, Statutory Nature Reserves or those proposed to be designated over the period of the Plan, only where the development has been subject to the outcome of the Appropriate Assessment process and has been carried out to the satisfaction of the Planning Authority, in consultation with National Parks and Wildlife.

HER OBL 34: To protect and conserve the conservation value of candidate Special Areas of Conservation, Special Protection Areas, Natural Heritage Areas and proposed Natural Heritage Areas as identified by the Minister for the Department of Culture, Heritage and the Gaeltacht and any other sites that may be proposed for designation during the lifetime of this Plan in accordance with the provisions of the Habitats and Birds Directives and to permit development in or affecting same only in accordance with the provisions of those Directives as transposed into Irish Law.

INF OBJ 8: To protect both ground and surface water resources and work with Irish Water to develop and implement Water Safety Plans to protect sources of public water supply and their contributing catchment

INF OBJ 12: The Planning Authority shall consider the provision of temporary wastewater treatment facilities for new developments only in circumstances where a permanent solution is identified and committed to by Irish Water. The temporary solution shall only be considered where it is deemed to be environmentally sustainable and would not affect the water quality status of receiving waters. Adequate provision shall be made by the developer for the operation and maintenance of the temporary facility for the duration of the operation of the required infrastructure.

INF POL 16: To ensure that all planning applications for new development have regard to the surface water management policies provided for in the GDSDS.

INF OBJ 14: To require the use of SuDS within Local Authority Developments and other infrastructural projects in accordance with the Greater Dublin Regional Code of Practice for Drainage Works.

INF OBJ 15: To require the use of SuDS in accordance with the Greater Dublin Regional Code of Practice for Drainage Works for new developments (including extensions).

INF OBJ 19: To ensure that developments permitted by the Council which involve discharge of wastewater to surface waters or groundwaters comply with the requirements of the EU

¹⁹ Eastern & Midland Regional Assembly (2019) *Regional Spatial & Economic Strategy 2019-2030*

Environmental Objectives (Surface Waters) Regulations and EU Environmental Objectives (Groundwater) Regulations.

INF OBJ 22: To ensure flood relief measures are suitably designed to protect the conservation objectives of Natura 2000 sites, and to avoid direct or indirect impacts upon qualifying interests or Natura 2000 sites.

INF OBJ 25: To require the use of Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems (SuDS) to minimise and limit the extent of hard surfacing and paving and require the use of sustainable drainage techniques where appropriate, for new development or for extensions to existing developments, in order to reduce the potential impact of existing and predicted flooding risks.

- 83 Plans and developments within the other local authority areas which could influence conditions in Malahide Estuary or Dublin Bay via rivers and other surface water features, also must comply with the policies and objectives relevant to the protection of European sites and water quality. This includes the *Fingal Development Plan 2017-2023* and the *Dublin City Development Plan 2016 2022*. The relevant policies and objectives in those plans for the protection of European sites and water quality are included in Appendix II.
- 84 Therefore, and having regard to the policies and objectives referred to under the relevant development plans, it is concluded that the possibility of any other plans or projects acting in combination with the proposed development to give rise to significant effects on any European site in, or associated with, Malahide Estuary and Dublin Bay can be excluded.

3.3.3 Habitat degradation as a result of hydrogeological impacts

- 85 Groundwater effects could arise as a consequence of an accidental pollution event potentially causing a reduction in groundwater quality and/or dewatering activity potentially causing a reduction in groundwater levels in the locality. Whilst this is a possibility, this would be very localised and would not result in the degradation of existing groundwater conditions. Furthermore, there are no groundwater dependent habitats or species associated with the European sites in Malahide Estuary or Rogerstown Estuary.
- 86 The nearest European site which supports groundwater dependent terrestrial habitats and/or species is the Rye Water Valley/Carton SAC, located *c*. 15.5km south west of the proposed development site. This site is not located in the same GWB as the proposed development site and is located a significant distance away. Therefore there is no potential for groundwater impacts to affect conditions in the Rye Water Valley/Carton SAC as a result of the proposed development.
- 87 Therefore, there is no possibility of the proposed development undermining the conservation objectives of any of the Qualifying Interests or Special Conservation Interests of any European sites, either alone or in combination with any other pans or projects, as a result of hydrogeological effects.

3.3.4 Habitat degradation as a result of introducing/spreading non-native invasive species

88 There are no species listed on the Third Schedule of the European Communities (Birds and Natural Habitats) Regulations, 2011 on the proposed development site. The proposed development site is hydrologically connected to European sites via the surface water drainage. However, owing to the absence of Third Schedule non-native invasive species recorded from the proposed development site, there is no risk of non-native invasive species spreading from the proposed development site to any downstream European site.

3.3.5 Disturbance and displacement impacts

89 Construction-related disturbance and displacement of fauna species could potentially occur within the vicinity of the proposed development. For mammal species such as otter, disturbance effects would not be

expected to extend beyond 150m²⁰. For birds, disturbance effects would not be expected to extend beyond a distance of *c*. 300m, as noise levels associated with general construction activities would attenuate to close to background levels at that distance.²¹ There are no European sites within the disturbance ZoI; the next nearest European site to the proposed development is *c*. 12.6km away. There are also no habitat areas within the disturbance ZoI of the proposed development that support populations of Qualifying/Special Conservation Interest species of any European site²².

90 As the proposed development will not result in the disturbance/displacement of the Qualifying/Special Conservation Interest species of any European site, there is no potential for any in combination effects to occur in that regard.

3.3.6 Summary

- 91 The potential impacts associated with the proposed development do not have the potential to affect the receiving environment and, consequently, do not have the potential to affect the conservation objectives supporting the Qualifying Interest/Special Conservation Interests of any European sites. Therefore, the proposed development is not likely to have significant effects on any European sites.
- 92 As the proposed development itself will not have any effects on the QIs/SCIs or conservation objectives of any European sites, and taking into account the policies and objectives of the statutory plans referred to above, it is concluded that there is no potential for any other plan or project to act in combination with it to result in significant effects on any European sites.
- **93** The potential impacts of the proposed development on the receiving environment, their Zol, and the European sites at risk of significant effects are summarised in Table 1 below. In assessing the potential for the proposed development to result in a significant effect on any European sites, any measures intended to avoid or reduce the harmful effects of the project on European sites are not taken into account.

Table 1Summary of Analysis of Likely Significant Effects on European sites

Potential Direct, Indirect In Combination Effects and the ZoI of the Potential Effects	Are there any European sites within the ZoI of the proposed development?
Habitat loss Habitat loss will be confined to the lands within the proposed development boundary.	No There are no European sites within the proposed development boundary
Habitat degradation as a result of hydrological impacts	No

²⁰ This is consistent with Transport Infrastructure Ireland (TII) guidance (Guidelines for the Treatment of Otters prior to the Construction of National Road Schemes (NRA 2006) and Guidelines for the Treatment of Badgers prior to the Construction of National Road Schemes (NRA 2005)) documents. This is a precautionary distance, and likely to be moderated by the screening effect provided by surrounding vegetation and buildings, with the actual ZoI of construction related disturbance likely to be much less in reality.

²¹ The disturbance zone of influence for waterbirds is based on the relationship between the noise levels generated by general construction traffic/works (BS 5228:2009 Code of Practice for Noise and Vibration Control on Construction and Open Sites – Part 1 Noise) and the proximity of those noise levels to birds – as assessed in Cutts, N. Phelps, A. & Burdon, D. (2009) *Construction and Waterfowl: Defining Sensitivity, Response, Impacts and Guidance*, and Wright, M., Goodman, P & Cameron, T. (2010) Exploring Behavioural Responses of Shorebirds to Impulsive Noise. *Wildfowl* (2010) 60: 150–167. At 300m, noise levels are below 60dB or, in most cases, are approaching the 50dB threshold below which no disturbance or displacement effects would arise.

²² There is a need to consider use of habitat areas outside of an SPA by SCI bird species where they support the SCI populations and the site's conservation objectives. These habitat areas can comprise alternative roosting sites, foraging areas, staging grounds or migration routes and can, but not necessarily exclusively, be situated within the immediate hinterland of the SPA, or in areas ecologically connected to it.



Potential Direct, Indirect In Combination Effects and the ZoI of the Potential Effects	Are there any European sites within the ZoI of the proposed development?
Habitats and species downstream of the proposed development site and the associated surface water drainage discharge points, and downstream of offsite wastewater treatment plants.	There are no European sites at risk of hydrological effects associated with the proposed development
Habitat degradation as a result of hydrogeological impacts Groundwater-dependant habitats, and the species those habitats support, in the local area that lie downgradient of the proposed development site.	No There are no European sites at risk of hydrogeological effects associated with the proposed development
Habitat degradation as a result of introducing/spreading non-native invasive species Habitat areas within, adjacent to, and potentially downstream of the proposed development site.	No There are no non-native invasive species present on the proposed development site and, therefore, no risk associated with the proposed development to any European sites from the spread/introduction of non-native invasive species
Disturbance and displacement impacts Potentially up to several hundred metres from the proposed development boundary, dependent upon the predicted levels of noise, vibration and visual disturbance associated with the proposed development, taking into account the sensitivity of the qualifying interest species to disturbance effects	No There are no European sites within the potential zone of influence of disturbance effects associated with the construction or operation of the proposed development

4 Conclusions of Screening Assessment Process

94 Following an examination, analysis and evaluation of the best available information, and applying the precautionary principle, it can be concluded that the possibility of any significant effects on any European sites, whether arising from the project alone or in combination with other plans and projects, can be excluded, for the reasons set out in Section 3.3 above. In reaching this conclusion, the nature of the project and its potential relationship with all European sites within the zone of influence, and their conservation objectives, have been fully considered. Therefore, it is the professional opinion of the authors of this report that the application for consent for the proposed development does not require a Stage Two Appropriate Assessment or the preparation of a Natura Impact Statement (NIS).

18



Appendix I

The Qualifying Interests (QIs) and Special Conservation Interests (SCIs) of the European sites in the vicinity of the proposed development site (see Figure 1)

European Site Name [Code] and its Qualifying interest(s) / Special Conservation Interest(s) (*Priority Annex I Habitats)	Location Relative to the Proposed Development Site
Special Area of Conservation (SAC)	
Malahide Estuary SAC [000205] 1140 Mudflats and sandflats not covered by seawater at low tide 1310 Salicornia and other annuals colonising mud and sand 1330 Atlantic salt meadows (Glauco-Puccinellietalia maritimae) 1410 Mediterranean salt meadows (Juncetalia maritimi) 2120 Shifting dunes along the shoreline with Ammophila arenaria (white dunes) 2130 Fixed coastal dunes with herbaceous vegetation (grey dunes)*	Located <i>c.</i> 12.6km south east of the proposed development.
S.I. No. 91/2019 - European Union Habitats (Malahide Estuary Special Area Of Conservation 000205) Regulations 2019 NPWS (2013) Conservation Objectives: Malahide Estuary SAC 000205. Version 1. National Parks and Wildlife Service, Department of Arts, Heritage and the Gaeltacht.	
Rogerstown Estuary SAC [000208]	Located c. 13.1km east of
1130 Estuaries	the proposed development
1140 Mudflats and sandflats not covered by seawater at low tide	
1310 Salicornia and other annuals colonising mud and sand	
1330 Atlantic salt meadows (Glauco-Puccinellietalia maritimae)	
1410 Mediterranean salt meadows (Juncetalia maritimi)	
2120 Shifting dunes along the shoreline with Ammophila arenaria (white dunes)	
2130 Fixed coastal dunes with herbaceous vegetation (grey dunes)*	
S.I. No. 286/2018 - European Union Habitats (Rogerstown Estuary Special Area of Conservation 000208) Regulations 2018	
NPWS (2013) <i>Conservation Objectives: Rogerstown Estuary SAC 000208</i> . Version 1. National Parks and Wildlife Service, Department of Arts, Heritage and the Gaeltacht.	
Rye Water Valley/Carton SAC [001398]	Located c. 15.5km south
7220 Petrifying springs with tufa formation (Cratoneurion)*	west of the proposed
1014 Narrow-mouthed Whorl Snail Vertigo angustior	aevelopment
1016 Desmoulin's Whorl Snail Vertigo moulinsiana	
S.I. No. 494/2018 - European Union Habitats (Conservation of Wild Birds (Rye Water Valley/Carton Special Area of Conservation 001398)) Regulations 2018.	



European Site Name [Code] and its Qualifying interest(s) / Special Conservation Interest(s) (*Priority Annex I Habitats)	Location Relative to the Proposed Development Site
NPWS (2021) <i>Conservation objectives for Rye Water Valley/Carton SAC [001398]</i> . Generic Version 1.0. Department of Housing, Local Government and Heritage. ²³	
South Dublin Bay SAC [000210] 1140 Mudflats and sandflats not covered by seawater at low tide 1210 Annual vegetation of drift lines 1310 Salicornia and other annuals colonising mud and sand 2110 Embryonic shifting dunes	Located c. 22.7km south east of the proposed development
S.I. No. 525/2019 - European Union Habitats (South Dublin Bay Special Area of Conservation 000210) Regulations 2019 NPWS (2013) Conservation Objectives: South Dublin Bay SAC 000210. Version 1. National Parks and Wildlife Service, Department of Arts, Heritage and the Gaeltacht.	
North Dublin Bay SAC [000206]	Located c. 20.7km south
1140 Mudflats and sandflats not covered by seawater at low tide	east of the proposed
1210 Annual vegetation of drift lines	development
1310 Salicornia and other annuals colonising mud and sand	
1330 Atlantic salt meadows (Glauco-Puccinellietalia maritimae)	
1395 Petalwort Petalophyllum ralfsii	
1410 Mediterranean salt meadows (Juncetalia maritimi)	
2110 Embryonic shifting dunes	
2120 Shifting dunes along the shoreline with Ammophila arenaria (white dunes)	
2130 Fixed coastal dunes with herbaceous vegetation (grey dunes)	
2190 Humid dune slacks	
S.I. No. 524/2019 - European Union Habitats (North Dublin Bay Special Area of Conservation 000206) Regulations 2019	
NPWS (2013) <i>Conservation Objectives: North Dublin Bay SAC 000206.</i> Version 1. National Parks and Wildlife Service, Department of Arts, Heritage and the Gaeltacht.	
Special Protection Area (SPA)	
Malahide Estuary SPA [004025]	Located c. 12.7km south
A005 Great Crested Grebe Podiceps cristatus	east of the proposed
A046 Light-bellied Brent Goose Branta bernicla hrota	development
A048 Shelduck Tadorna tadorna	
A054 Pintail Anas acuta	
A067 Goldeneye Bucephala clangula	
A069 Red-breasted Merganser Mergus serrator	

²³ The versions of the conservation objectives documents referenced in this table are the most recent published versions at the time of writing



European Site Name [Code] and its Qualifying interest(s) / Special Conservation Interest(s)	Location Relative to the Proposed Development
(*Priority Annex I Habitats)	Site
A130 Oystercatcher Haematopus ostralegus	
A140 Golden Plover Pluvialis apricaria	
A141 Grey Plover Pluvialis squatarola	
A143 Knot Calidris canutus	
A149 Dunlin <i>Calidris alpina</i>	
A156 Black-tailed Godwit Limosa limosa	
A157 Bar-tailed Godwit Limosa lapponica	
A162 Redshank Tringa totanus	
A999 Wetland and Waterbirds	
S.I. No. 285/2011 - European Communities (Conservation of Wild Birds (Malahide Estuary Special Protection Area 004025)) Regulations 2011.	
NPWS (2013) <i>Conservation Objectives: Malahide Estuary SPA 004025.</i> Version 1. National Parks and Wildlife Service, Department of Arts, Heritage and the Gaeltacht.	
Rogerstown Estuary SPA [004015]	Located c. 14km east of
A043 Greylag Goose Anser anser	the proposed development
A046 Brent Goose Branta bernicla hrota	
A048 Shelduck Tadorna tadorna	
A056 Shoveler Anas clypeata	
A130 Oystercatcher Haematopus ostralegus	
A137 Ringed Plover Charadrius hiaticula	
A141 Grey Plover Pluvialis squatarola	
A143 Knot Calidris canutus	
A149 Dunlin <i>Calidris alpina alpina</i>	
A156 Black-tailed Godwit Limosa limosa	
A162 Redshank Tringa totanus	
A999 Wetlands	
S.I. No. 271/2010 - European Communities (Conservation of Wild Birds (Rogerstown Estuary Special Protection Area 004015)) Regulations 2010.	
NPWS (2013) <i>Conservation Objectives: Rogerstown Estuary SPA 004015</i> . Version 1. National Parks and Wildlife Service, Department of Arts, Heritage and the Gaeltacht.	
North Bull Island SPA [004006]	Located c. 20.7km south
A046 Light-bellied Brent Goose Branta bernicla hrota	east of the proposed
A048 Shelduck <i>Tadorna tadorna</i>	development
A052 Teal Anas crecca	
A054 Pintail Anas acuta	
A056 Shoveler Anas clypeata	
A130 Oystercatcher Haematopus ostralegus	
A140 Golden Plover Pluvialis apricaria	
A141 Grey Plover Pluvialis squatarola	
A143 Knot Calidris canutus	
A144 Sanderling Calidris alba	



European Site Name [Code] and its	Location Relative to the
Qualifying interest(s) / Special Conservation Interest(s)	Proposed Development
(*Priority Annex I Habitats)	Site
A149 Dunlin Calidris alpina	
A156 Black-tailed Godwit Limosa limosa	
A157 Bar-tailed Godwit Limosa lapponica	
A160 Curlew Numenius arquata	
A162 Redshank Tringa totanus	
A169 Turnstone Arenaria interpres	
A179 Black-headed Gull Chroicocephalus ridibundus	
A999 Wetlands & Waterbirds	
S.I. No. 211/2010 - European Communities (Conservation of Wild Birds (North Bull Island Special Protection Area 004006)) Regulations 2010.	
NPWS (2015) Conservation Objectives: North Bull Island SPA 004006. Version 1. National Parks and Wildlife Service, Department of Arts, Heritage and the Gaeltacht.	
South Dublin Bay and River Tolka Estuary SPA [004024]	Located c. 19.1km south
A046 Light-bellied Brent Goose Branta bernicla hrota	east of the proposed
A130 Oystercatcher Haematopus ostralegus	development
A137 Ringed Plover Charadrius hiaticula	
A141 Grey Plover Pluvialis squatarola	
A143 Knot Calidris canutus	
A144 Sanderling Calidris alba	
A149 Dunlin Calidris alpina	
A157 Bar-tailed Godwit Limosa lapponica	
A162 Redshank Tringa totanus	
A179 Black-headed Gull Chroicocephalus ridibundus	
A192 Roseate Tern Sterna dougallii	
A193 Common Tern Sterna hirundo	
A194 Arctic Tern Sterna paradisaea	
A999 Wetland and Waterbirds	
S.I. No. 212/2010 - European Communities (Conservation of Wild Birds (South Dublin Bay and River Tolka Estuary Special Protection Area 004024)) Regulations 2010. NPWS (2015) Conservation Objectives: South Dublin Bay and River Tolka Estuary SPA 004024. Version 1. National Parks and Wildlife Service, Department of Arts, Heritage and the Gaeltacht.	

22



Appendix II

Planning polices/objectives relating to the protection of European sites and water quality

Eastern & Midland Regional Assembly, Regional Spatial & Economic Strategy 2019-2031

Regional Policy Objective 3.4

Ensure that all plans, projects and activities requiring consent arising from the Regional Spatial and Economic Strategy are subject to the relevant environmental assessment requirements including SEA, EIA and AA as appropriate. In addition the future strategic development of settlements throughout the Region will have full cognisance of the legal requirements pertaining to sites of International Nature Conservation Interest.

Regional Policy Objective 7.2

To achieve and maintain 'Good Environmental Status' for marine waters and to ensure the sustainable use of shared marine resources in the Region, and to promote the development of a cross-boundary and cross-border strategic management and stakeholder engagement framework to protect the marine environment.

Regional Policy Objective 7.10

Support the implementation of the Water Framework Directive in achieving and maintaining at least good environmental status for all water bodies in the Region and to ensure alignment between the core objectives of the Water Framework Directive and other relevant Directives, River Basin Management plans and local authority land use plans.

Regional Policy Objective 7.11

For water bodies with 'high ecological status' objectives in the Region, local authorities shall incorporate measures for both their continued protection and to restore those water bodies that have fallen below high ecological status and areas 'At Risk' into the development of local planning policy and decision making any measures for the continued protection of areas with high ecological status in the Region and for mitigation of threats to waterbodies identified as 'At Risk' as part of a catchment based approach in consultation with the relevant agencies. This shall include recognition of the need to deliver efficient wastewater facilities with sufficient capacity and thus contribute to improved water quality in the Region.

Regional Policy Objective 7.12

Future statutory land use plans shall include Strategic Flood Risk Assessment (SFRA) and seek to avoid inappropriate land use zonings and development in areas at risk of flooding and to integrate sustainable water management solutions (such as SuDS, nonporous surfacing and green roofs) to create safe places in accordance with the Planning System and Flood Risk Assessment Guidelines for Local Authorities.

Regional Policy Objective 7.15

Local authorities shall take opportunities to enhance biodiversity and amenities and to ensure the protection of environmentally sensitive sites and habitats, including where flood risk management measures are planned.

Regional Policy Objective 7.16

Support the implementation of the Habitats Directives in achieving an improvement in the conservation status of protected species and habitats in the Region and to ensure alignment between the core objectives of the EU Birds and Habitats Directives and local authority development plans.

Regional Policy Objective 7.22

Local authority development plan and local area plans, shall identify, protect, enhance, provide and manage Green Infrastructure in an integrated and coherent manner and should also have regard to the required targets in relation to the conservation of European sites, other nature conservation sites, ecological networks and protected species.

Regional Policy Objective 10.6

Delivery and phasing of services shall be subject to the required appraisal, planning and environmental assessment processes and shall avoid adverse impacts on the integrity of the Natura 2000 network.

Regional Policy Objective 10.7

Local authority core strategies shall demonstrate compliance with DHPLG Water Services Guidelines for local authorities and demonstrate phased infrastructure – led growth that is commensurate with the carrying capacity of water services and prevent adverse impacts on the integrity of water dependent habitats and species within the Natura 2000 network.



Regional Policy Objective 10.10

Support Irish Water and the relevant local authorities in the Region to eliminate untreated discharges from settlements in the short term, while planning strategically for long term growth in tandem with Project Ireland 2040 and in increasing compliance with the requirements of the Urban Waste Water Treatment Directive from 39% today to 90% by the end of 2021, to 99% by 2027 and to 100% by 2040.

Regional Policy Objective 10.11

EMRA supports the delivery of the waste water infrastructure set out in Table 10.2, subject to appropriate environmental assessment and the planning process.²⁴

Regional Policy Objective 10.12

Development plans shall support strategic wastewater treatment infrastructure investment and provide for the separation of foul and surface water networks to accommodate the future growth of the Region.

Regional Policy Objective 10.15

Support the relevant local authorities (and Irish Water where relevant) in the Region to improve storm water infrastructure to improve sustainable drainage and reduce the risk of flooding in the urban environment and in the development and provision at a local level of Sustainable Urban Drainage solutions.

Regional Policy Objective 10.16

Implement policies contained in the Greater Dublin Strategic Drainage Study (GDSDS), including SuDS.

Regional Policy Objective 10.18

Local authorities shall ensure adequate surface water drainage systems are in place which meet the requirements of the Water Framework Directive and the associated River Basin Management Plans.

Meath County Development Plan 2021-2027

HER POL 28

To integrate in the development management process the protection and enhancement of biodiversity and landscape features wherever possible, by minimising adverse impacts on existing habitats (whether designated or not) and by including mitigation and/or compensation measures, as appropriate.

HER POL 31

To ensure that the ecological impact of all development proposals on habitats and species are appropriately assessed by suitably qualified professional(s) in accordance with best practice guidelines – e.g. the preparation of an Ecological Impact Assessment (EcIA), Screening Statement for Appropriate Assessment, Environmental Impact Assessment, Natura Impact Statement (NIS), species surveys etc. (as appropriate).

HER POL 32

To permit development on or adjacent to designated Special Areas of Conservation, Special Protection Areas, Natural Heritage Areas, Statutory Nature Reserves or those proposed to be designated over the period of the Plan, only where the development has been subject to the outcome of the Appropriate Assessment process and has been carried out to the satisfaction of the Planning Authority, in consultation with National Parks and Wildlife.

HER POL 33

To have regard to the views and guidance of the National Parks and Wildlife Service in respect of proposed development where there is a possibility that such development may have an impact on a designated European or National site or a site proposed for such designation.

HER POL 34

To undertake appropriate surveys and collect data to provide an evidence-base to assist the Council in meeting its obligations under Article 6 of the Habitats Directives (92/43/EEC) as transposed into Irish Law, subject to available resources.

²⁴ The Greater Dublin Drainage Project, the Ringsend Wastewater Treatment Plant Project, the Athlone Main Drainage Project and the Upper Liffey Valley Sewerage Scheme



HER OBL 33

To ensure an Appropriate Assessment in accordance with Article 6(3) and Article 6(4) of the Habitats Directives (92/43/EEC) and in accordance with the Department of Environment, Heritage and Local Government Appropriate Assessment of Plans and Projects in Ireland – Guidance for Planning Authorities, 2009 and relevant EPA and European Commission guidance documents, is carried out in respect of any plan or project not directly connected with or necessary for the management of the site but likely to have a significant effect on a Natura 2000 site(s), either individually or in-combination with other plans or projects, in view of the site's conservation objectives.

HER OBL 34

To protect and conserve the conservation value of candidate Special Areas of Conservation, Special Protection Areas, Natural Heritage Areas and proposed Natural Heritage Areas as identified by the Minister for the Department of Culture, Heritage and the Gaeltacht and any other sites that may be proposed for designation during the lifetime of this Plan in accordance with the provisions of the Habitats and Birds Directives and to permit development in or affecting same only in accordance with the provisions of those Directives as transposed into Irish Law.

HER POL 35

To ensure, where appropriate, the protection and conservation of areas, sites, species and ecological/networks of biodiversity value outside designated sites and to require an appropriate level of ecological assessment by suitably qualified professional(s) to accompany development proposals likely to impact on such areas or species.

HER POL 36

To consult with the National Parks and Wildlife Service and take account of their views and any licensing requirements, when undertaking, approving or authorising development which is likely to affect plant, animal or bird species protected by law.

HER OBJ 35

To ensure that development does not have a significant adverse impact, incapable of satisfactory avoidance or mitigation, on plant, animal or bird species protected by law.

HER POL 45

To ensure that peatland areas which are designated (or proposed for designation) as NHAs, SACs or SPAs are conserved for their ecological, climate regulation, archaeological, cultural and educational significance.

HER OBJ 39

To work in partnership with relevant stakeholders on a suitable peatland site(s) to demonstrate best practice in sustainable peatland conservation, management and restoration techniques and to promote their heritage and educational value subject to Ecological Impact Assessment and Appropriate Assessment Screening, as appropriate, having regard to local and residential amenities.

HER POL 47

To protect the ecological, recreational, educational, amenity and flood alleviation potential of navigational and non-navigational waterways within the County, towpaths and adjacent wetlands.

HER OBJ 42

To undertake conservation works in accordance with best practice on the coastal dune systems subject to ecological impact assessment and Appropriate Assessment, as appropriate.

HER OBJ 60

To encourage, pursuant to Article 10 of the Habitats Directive (92/43/EEC), the management of features of the landscape, such as traditional field boundaries, important for the ecological coherence of the Natura 2000 network and essential for the migration, dispersal and genetic exchange of wild species

INF POL 9

To consider the potential for the provision of temporary water treatment facilities for new developments but only where a permanent solution has already been identified and committed to by Irish Water but has not yet been implemented. The provision of such temporary facilities shall only be considered where the solution is environmentally sustainable and would not affect the quality status of water sources. Adequate provision



shall be made by the developer for the operation and maintenance of the proposed temporary facility for the duration of its required existence and thereafter for its decommissioning and removal from site.

INF OBJ 6

To liaise and work in conjunction with Irish Water in their implementation of water conservation measures.

INF OBJ 7

To promote the sustainable use of water and water conservation in existing and new development within the County and encourage demand management measures among all water users

INF OBJ 8

To protect both ground and surface water resources and work with Irish Water to develop and implement Water Safety Plans to protect sources of public water supply and their contributing catchment

INF POL 11

To liaise and work in conjunction with Irish Water during the lifetime of the Plan in the provision, upgrading or extension of wastewater collection and treatment systems in the County to serve existing and planned future populations and enterprise in accordance with the requirements of the Core and Settlement Strategies.

INF OBJ 12

The Planning Authority shall consider the provision of temporary wastewater treatment facilities for new developments only in circumstances where a permanent solution is identified and committed to by Irish Water. The temporary solution shall only be considered where it is deemed to be environmentally sustainable and would not affect the water quality status of receiving waters. Adequate provision shall be made by the developer for the operation and maintenance of the temporary facility for the duration of the operation of the required infrastructure.

INF POL 16

To ensure that all planning applications for new development have regard to the surface water management policies provided for in the GDSDS.

INF OBJ 14

To require the use of SuDS within Local Authority Developments and other infrastructural projects in accordance with the Greater Dublin Regional Code of Practice for Drainage Works.

INF OBJ 15

To require the use of SuDS in accordance with the Greater Dublin Regional Code of Practice for Drainage Works for new developments (including extensions).

INF OBJ 19

To ensure that developments permitted by the Council which involve discharge of wastewater to surface waters or groundwaters comply with the requirements of the EU Environmental Objectives (Surface Waters) Regulations and EU Environmental Objectives (Groundwater) Regulations.

INF POL 29

To facilitate the provision of new, or the reinforcement of existing flood defences and protection measures where necessary and in particular to support the implementation of flood schemes being progressed through the planning process during the lifetime of the Plan. The provision of flood defences will be subject to the outcome of the Appropriate Assessment process.

INF OBJ 22

To ensure flood relief measures are suitably designed to protect the conservation objectives of Natura 2000 sites, and to avoid direct or indirect impacts upon qualifying interests or Natura 2000 sites.

INF OBJ 25

To require the use of Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems (SuDS) to minimise and limit the extent of hard surfacing and paving and require the use of sustainable drainage techniques where appropriate, for new development or for extensions to existing developments, in order to reduce the potential impact of existing and predicted flooding risks.

INF POL 33



To protect recognised salmonid water courses (in conjunction with Inland Fisheries Ireland) such as the Boyne and Blackwater catchments, which are recognised to be exceptional in supporting salmonid fish species.

INF OBJ 30

To ensure the County's natural coastal defences, such as beaches, sand dunes, salt marshes and estuary lands, are protected and are not compromised by inappropriate works or forms of development.

INF OBJ 36

To protect and develop, in a sustainable manner, the existing groundwater sources and aquifers in the County and manage development in a manner consistent with the sustainable management of these resources in conformity with the EU Environmental Objectives (Groundwater) Regulations 2010 and the second cycle National River Basin Management Plan 2018-2021, and any subsequent plan and the Groundwater Protection Scheme.

Fingal Development Plan 2017-2023

Objective NH10

Ensure that the Council takes full account of the requirements of the Habitats and Birds Directives, as they apply both within and without European Sites in the performance of its functions.

Objective NH11

Ensure that the Council, in the performance of its functions, takes full account of the objectives and management practices proposed in any management or related plans for European Sites in and adjacent to Fingal published by the Department of Arts, Heritage, Regional, Rural and Gaeltacht Affairs.

Objective NH15

Strictly protect areas designated or proposed to be designated as Natura 2000 sites (i.e. Special Areas of Conservation (SACs) and Special Protection Areas (SPAs); also known as European sites) including any areas that may be proposed for designation or designated during the period of this Plan.

Objective SW04

Require the use of sustainable drainage systems (SuDS) to minimise and limit the extent of hard surfacing and paving and require the use of sustainable drainage techniques where appropriate, for new development or for extensions to existing developments, in order to reduce the potential impact of existing and predicted flooding risks.

Objective WQ01

Strive to achieve 'good status' in all waterbodies in compliance with the Water Framework Directive, the Eastern River Basin District Management Plan 2009-2015 and the associated Programme of Measures (first cycle) and to cooperate with the development and implementation of the second cycle national River Basin Management Plan 2017-2021.

Objective WQ04

Protect existing riverine wetland and coastal habitats and where possible create new habitats to maintain naturally functioning ecosystems whilst ensuring they do not impact negatively on the conservation objectives of any European Sites.

Objective WT01

Liaise with and work in conjunction with Irish Water during the lifetime of the plan for the provision, extension and upgrading of waste water collection and treatment systems in all towns and villages of the County to serve existing populations and facilitate sustainable development of the County, in accordance with the requirements of the Settlement Strategy and associated Core Strategy.

Objective WT02

Liaise with Irish Water to ensure the provision of wastewater treatment systems in order to ensure compliance with existing licences, EU Water Framework Directive, River Basin Management Plans, the Urban Waste Water Directive and the EU Habitats Directive.

Dublin City Development Plan 2016-2022

SI2:

To support and facilitate Irish Water to ensure the upgrading of wastewater infrastructure, in particular the upgrading of the Ringsend Wastewater Treatment Plant, and to support the development of the Greater

Dublin Regional Wastewater Treatment Plant, the North Docklands Sewage Scheme, the Marine Outfall and orbital sewer to be located in the northern part of the Greater Dublin Area to serve the Dublin region as part of the Greater Dublin Strategic Drainage Strategy.

SI3:

To ensure that development is permitted in tandem with available water supply and wastewater treatment and to manage development, so that new schemes are permitted only where adequate capacity or resources exists or will become available within the life of a planning permission.

SI7:

To promote the progressive reduction of pollution of groundwater and prevent its further pollution

SI17:

To require an environmental assessment of all proposed flood protection or flood alleviation works

SI18:

To require the use of Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems in all new developments, where appropriate, as set out in the Greater Dublin Regional Code of Practice for Drainage Works. The following measures will apply:

- The infiltration into the ground through the development of porous pavement such as permeable paving, swales, and detention basins
- The holding of water in storage areas through the construction of green roofs, rainwater harvesting, detention basins, ponds, and wetlands
- The slow-down of the movement of water.

GI2:

That any plan/project, either individually or in combination with other plans or projects that has the potential to give rise to significant effect on the integrity of any European site(s), shall be subject to an appropriate assessment in accordance with Article 6(3) and 6(4) of the EU Habitats Directives

GI23:

To protect flora, fauna and habitats, which have been identified by Articles 10 and 12 of Habitats Directive, Birds Directive, Wildlife Acts 1976–2012, the Flora (Protection) Order 2015 S.I No. 356 of 2015, European Communities (Birds and Natural Habitats) Regulations 2011 to 2015.

GI23:

To protect flora, fauna and habitats, which have been identified by Articles 10 and 12 of Habitats Directive, Birds Directive, Wildlife Acts 1976–2012, the Flora (Protection) Order 2015 S.I No. 356 of 2015, European Communities (Birds and Natural Habitats) Regulations 2011 to 2015.

GI26:

To have regard to the conservation and enhancement of significant non-designated areas of ecological importance in accordance with development standards set out in this plan



Appendix III

Hydrological & Hydrogeological Qualitative Risk Assessment for A Proposed Masterplan and SHD in Lands at Milltown, Ashbourne, Co. Meath (AWN, 2022)



The Tecpro Building, Clonshaugh Business & Technology Park, Dublin 17, Ireland.

T: + 353 1 847 4220 F: + 353 1 847 4257 E: info@awnconsulting.com W: www.awnconsulting.com

 Cork Office

 Unit 5, ATS Building,

 Carrigaline Industrial Estate,

 Carrigaline, Co. Cork.

 T: + 353 21 438 7400

 F: + 353 21 483 4606

AWN Consulting Limited Registered in Ireland No. 319812 Directors: F Callaghan, C Dilworth, T Donnelly, T Hayes, D Kelly, E Porter

HYDROLOGICAL & HYDROGEOLOGICAL QUALITATIVE RISK ASSESSMENT

for

MASTER PLAN 18 MILLTOWN MASTERPLAN, ASHBOURNE, CO. MEATH

Technical Report Prepared For

Master Plan 18 – Milltown Masterplan Ashbourne, Co. Meath

Technical Report Prepared By

Marcelo Allende BSc, BEng, Senior Environmental Consultant (Hydrologist)

Our Reference

MA/227501.0462/WR01

Date of Issue

26 August 2022



Document History

Document Reference		Original Issue Date	
MA/227501.0462SR01		26 August 2022	
Revision Level	Revision Date	Description	Sections Affected

Record of Approval

Details	Written by	Approved by
Signature	Ant	Levi Hayos
Name	Marcelo Allende	Teri Hayes
Title	Senior Environmental Consultant	Director
Date	26 August 2022	26 August 2022

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1.0	INTRODUCTION	4
1.1	Background	4
1.2	Hydrological Setting	4
1.3	Objective of Report	6
1.4	Description of Current and Proposed Drainage	7
2.0	ASSESSMENT OF BASELINE WATER QUALITY, RIVER FLOW AND WATER	
BODY	′ STATUS	10
2.1	Hydrological Catchment Description	10
2.2	Aquifer Description & Superficial Deposits	11
3.0	CONCEPTUAL SITE MODEL	12
3.1	Assessment of Plausible Sources	12
3.2	Assessment of Pathways	14
3.3	Assessment of Receptors	14
3.4	Assessment of Source Pathway Receptor Linkages	15
4.0	CONCLUSIONS	19
5.0	REFERENCES	20

Figures

Figure 1.1	Location and Hydrological Environment	. 5
Figure 1.2	Masterplan Area 18 (Source: Davey & Smith, 2021)	. 6
Figure 1.3	Extract from SFRA of Meath County Development Plan 2021-2027 - Flood	
Map for Ashb	ourne (MP18 Master Plan lands outlined in red)	. 9
Figure 2.1	Aquifer Vulnerability (source: GSI, 2022)	12
-		

Tables

Table 3.1	Pollutant Linkage Assessment	(without mitigation)) 19
-----------	------------------------------	----------------------	------

1.0 INTRODUCTION

1.1 Background

AWN have been requested to carry out a Hydrological and Hydrogeological Qualitative Risk Assessment prepared in relation to c.19.9 hectares of lands located in the townlands of Milltown & Baltrasna, located to the south of Ashbourne town centre, which are identified as Master Plan 18 (MP 18) in the Meath County Development Plan, 2021-2027 (hereafter "Development Plan").

The MP18 Master Plan lands will provide for the following indicative aspects:

- Circa 750 no, up to a maximum of 800 no. new residential units;
- A net density of greater than 35 units per hectare (in accordance with DM OBJ 14 of the Development Plan and DoE Guidance);
- Circa 15% open space provision, in accordance with DM OBJ 26 of the Development Plan;
- Delivery of the east-west link road that will provide access from the Dublin Road (R135) through the Master Plan lands to adjoin the F1 zoned lands to the west;
- A site for a new school and playing pitch.

The Meath County Development Plan 2021-2027 sets out the main organising principles for the site to guide the future development of the lands. It proposes that these lands shall provide a primary school site, lands for recreational uses, including playing fields, and lands for residential development. The development of the lands shall be on a phased basis to be agreed as part of the preparation of the Masterplan.

The potential impacts on the receiving water environment considered withing this report are:

- The management of foul, surface water run-off and accidental oil leaks during construction phase.
- Connection to foul sewer and stormwater sewer during operation. Due to the residential development proposed it has been assumed that there will be no bulk oil storage during operation.

1.2 Hydrological Setting

The existing site is predominantly greenfield and the topography of the site generally falls from the north-east corner towards the west corner. It is noted that there are a number of drainage ditches located along the site boundary. These ditches discharge to the existing Fairyhouse Stream located to the south of MP18. There is an existing 375 mm surface water line located opposite Cherry Lane on the Dublin Road.

The EPA (2022) on-line database identify a small tributary to the Fairyhouse Stream c. 130 m to the south of the Masterplan boundary. The Fairyhouse Stream flows eastwards c. 470 m to the south of the subject site (refer to Figure 1.1 below). The Broadmeadows River crosses Ashbourne and is located c. 560 m to the north of the site. The Fairyhouse Stream joins the Broadmeadows River c. 2.2 km to the east of MP18.

The Broadmeadows outfalls into the Malahide Estuary c. 12 km to the east of the subject site. The Malahide Estuary hosts Natura 2000 sites (Malahide Estuary Special Area of Conservation (SAC, site code 000205) and Special Protection Area (SPA, site code 004025)), located c. 12.6 km and c. 12.7 km east of the Masterplan, respectively. The review of the EPA (2022) on-line database indicates that the

nearest designated lands to the site are the aforementioned Malahide Estuary SAC/SPA.

A review of the EPA (2022) on-line database indicates that the nearest designated lands to the site are the aforementioned Malahide Estuary SAC/SPA. The Masterplan site will have an indirect discharge to the Malahide Estuary from the Masterplan site through the stormwater and foul water site drainage as described in Section 1.4 below.

There will also be an indirect discharge to South Dublin Bay through the foul water drainage as also explained in Section 1.4 below. The South Dublin Bay also hosts a range of Natura 2000 Sites – South Dublin Bay Special Area of Conservation (SAC), South Dublin Bay and River Tolka Estuary / Special Protection Area (SPA)/ and South Dublin Bay proposed Natural Heritage Area (pNHA). These sites are located c. 23.0 km to the southeast of the Masterplan site.

The Masterplan site will have an indirect discharge to the Malahide Estuary via the stormwater and foul water site drainage as described in Section 1.4 below.



Figure 1.1 Location and Hydrological Environment

For reference, Figure 1.2 below presents the extent of the Masterplan 18 in the context of the Meath County Development Plan 2021-2027.



Figure 1.2 Masterplan Area 18 (Source: Davey & Smith, 2021)

1.3 Objective of Report

The scope of this desktop review is to assess the potential for any likely significant impacts on receiving waters and protected ecological areas during construction or post development, in the absence of taking account of any measures intended to avoid or reduce harmful effects of the proposed project (i.e. design or mitigation measures).

In particular, this review considers the likely impact of construction and operation impacts (construction run-off, and domestic sewage) from the proposed development on water quality and overall water body status within the Malahide Estuary (where the relevant European Sites are located). The assessment relies on information regarding construction and design provided by the applicant as follows:

- Masterplan Lands at Milltown, Ashbourne. Davey & Smith Architects, December 2021;
- Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) Screening of Master Plan 18 (MP 18) in the Meath County Development Plan, 2021-2027 (Armstrong Fenton);
- Strategic Flood Risk Assessment (SFRA) undertaken for the Meath County Development Plan 2021-2027.

This report was prepared by Marcelo Allende (BSc, BEng), and Teri Hayes (BSc MSc PGeol EurGeol). Marcelo is a Water Resources Engineer with over 15 years of experience in environmental consultancy and water resources studies. Marcelo is a

Senior Environmental Consultant (Hydrologist) with AWN Consulting, a member of the International Association of Hydrogeologists (Irish Group) and a member of Engineers Ireland (MIEI). Teri is a hydrogeologist with over 25 years of experience in water resource management and impact assessment. She has a Masters in Hydrogeology and is a former President of the Irish Group of the Association of Hydrogeologists (IAH) and has provided advisory services on water related environmental and planning issues to both public and private sector bodies. She is qualified as a competent person as recognised by the EPA in relation to contaminated land assessment (IGI Register of competent persons www.igi.ie). Her specialist area of expertise is water resource management eco-hydrogeology, hydrological assessment and environmental impact assessment.

1.4 Description of Existing Site and Proposed Drainage

Existing and Proposed Surface Water Drainage

There are a number of drainage ditches located on the site's boundary. These discharge to the existing Fairyhouse stream to the south. There is no surface water infrastructure within the site, However, there is an existing 375 mm surface water main located opposite Cherry Lane on the Dublin Road. It is proposed to connect the outflow of the surface water drainage to this sewer which ultimately discharges into the Broadmeadows River.

The development of the MP18 lands will necessitate the installation of a new surface water drainage network to cater for the additional hardstanding. The surface water runoff will be limited to greenfield runoff rates (Qbar) in accordance with the Greater Dublin Strategic Drainage Study (GDSDS).

In accordance with the GDSDS it is proposed to use Sustainable Urban Drainage systems (SUDS) for managing storm-water for MP18. The aim of the SUDS strategy for the site will be to:

- Attenuate storm-water runoff.
- Reduce storm-water runoff.
- Reduce pollution impact.
- Replicate the natural characteristics of rainfall runoff for the site.
- Recharge the groundwater profile.

It should be noted that SuDS measures have not been taken into account in the subsequent analysis. The surface water drainage network within MP18 will collect surface water runoff from the site via a piped network prior to discharging off site via the attenuation tank and/or above ground in detention/infiltration basins, vortex flow control device (Hydrobrake or equivalent), and Class 1 separator (sized in accordance with permitted discharge from the site).

The stormwater and foul water networks within MP18 will be independent systems.

Flood Risk Assessment

The Eastern CFRAM Study indicates that the subject site is located within Flood Zone C (i.e., less than 0.1% AEP (Annual Exceedance Probability) or 1 in 1000 chance of flooding in a given year). Therefore, the future development of the lands for residential and community uses is appropriate for the subject lands.

The Strategic Flood Risk Assessment (SFRA) undertaken for the Meath County Development Plan 2021-2027 contains "Settlement Zoning Review" (under section 5) which:

- Considered the land use zoning objectives utilised within County Meath as a whole and assessed their potential vulnerability to flooding.
- Based on the associated vulnerability of the particular use, a clarification on the requirement of the application of the Justification Test is provided.
- The consideration of the specific land use zoning objectives and flood risk will be presented for the settlements. Comment is provided on the use of the sequential approach and Justification Test. Conclusions have been drawn on how flood risk is proposed to be managed in the settlement.

The SFRA reviewed the land use zoning objectives for each settlement in County Meath, including Ashbourne, within the Plan and provides a comprehensive summary of flood risk and justification where necessary. Section 5.2 of the Development Plan's SFRA provides details on Ashbourne, which does not identify the MP18 Master Plan lands as being at risk of flooding. It also concludes that "the Ashbourne Flood Relief scheme will be completed at the end of 2020 and the scheme will offer protection to a significant amount of existing development. Manage flood risk and development in line with the policies of the MCDP. Development should be subject to an appropriately detailed FRA at development management stage. This will ensure that FFLs and ground levels are set appropriately and that the risk of surface water flooding is managed".



Figure 1.3 Extract from SFRA of Meath County Development Plan 2021-2027 – Flood Map for Ashbourne (MP18 Master Plan lands outlined in red)

Existing and Proposed Foul Water Drainage

The Masterplan site has no existing foul loading as it is currently a greenfield site. There is an existing 225/300mm foul sewer which is located immediately to the west of the subject site in the Dublin Road.

The site has been divided in two areas for the purposes of foul drainage management. The northern half of the site will discharge via gravity to an existing foul manhole in the Dublin Road via Cherry Lane. The units in the southern portion of the site will discharge to an existing foul sewer located in Hickeys Lane. All connections are to be agreed with Irish Water prior to commencement.

The MP18 is to cater for circa 750 no, up to a maximum of 800 no. new residential units and a site for a new school and playing pitch. The estimated foul sewer discharge per person per day of 150 litres, equates to a peak discharge of 24.75 l/s for the 800 no. residential units and 3.51 l/s for the school which results a total peak discharge flow of 28.26 l/s.

The foul water from the proposed Masterplan eventually discharges to the Ringsend Waste Water Treatment Plant (WWTP) which in turn discharges into Dublin Bay.

In the future, a new Irish Water WWTP is planned in Ashbourne. However, details of this WWTP and its commissioning date are unknown but it will be expected to accept the foul flow foreseen in the Masterplan.

As mentioned above, the stormwater and foul water networks within MP18 will be independent systems.

2.0 ASSESSMENT OF BASELINE WATER QUALITY, RIVER FLOW AND WATER BODY STATUS

A reliable Conceptual Site Model (CSM) requires an understanding of the existing hydrological and hydrogeological setting. This is described below for the proposed development site and surrounding hydrological and hydrogeological environs.

2.1 Hydrological Catchment Description

The proposed development site lies within the Nanny-Delvin Catchment 08 and Broadmeadow-SC-010 WFD sub-catchment 08-3 (Fairyhouse Stream_010 WFD River Sub Basin; EPA, 2022).

The Environmental Protection Agency (EPA, 2022) on-line mapping presents the available water quality status information for water bodies in Ireland. The Fairyhouse Stream belongs to the '*Fairyhouse Stream_010*' WFD surface waterbody (WFD code IE_EA_08F010500) which has a '*Poor*' Status (EPA, 2022) and its WFD risk score is '*At risk of not achieving good status*'. However, the most recent surface water quality data for the Fairyhouse Stream (2020) indicate that it is '*Unpolluted*'. According to the EPA River Quality Surveys report, the Fairyhouse Stream '*improved to* 'Good' quality *in 2020, a significant improvement compared with 2014 when last assessed. Some filamentous algae and siltation were noted but good numbers of Ecdyonurus sp. were present. This is the best quality this stream has achieved since monitoring began in 1988. The macroinvertebrate fauna indicated a welcome improvement to good ecological conditions in June 2020 the first time since monitoring commenced at this site in 2006, however excessive siltation of the substratum was observed' (refer to www.catchments.ie).*

The Malahide Estuary Natura 2000 Sites (SAC/SPA) extend over the Broadmeadow Water WFD transitional waterbody (WFD code IE_EA_060_0100) and Malahide Bay WFD coastal waterbody (WFD code IE_EA_060_0000). The former has been classified by the WFD (2013-2018 period) as having '*Poor*' status and the latter as having '*Moderate*' status. Both waterbodies are '*At risk of not achieving status*'.

As the proposed Masterplan will have no additional stormwater run-off, when compared with the current situation, during a stormwater event, the development will, therefore, have no measurable impact on the water quality in any overflow situation at Ringsend WWTP apart from a minor contribution from foul sewage. As explained in Section 3.4 below, the maximum contribution of foul sewage (peak flow of 28.26 l/s) from the Proposed Development is 0.25% of the peak hydraulic capacity at Ringsend WWTP. The proposed stormwater and foul water networks within MP18 will be entirely independent systems and rainfall will have no impact on foul flows to the WWTP.

It should be noted that the bathing status has no direct relevance to the water quality status of the Natura 2000 sites due to rapid mixing and dilution resulting in no measurable change in water quality within the overall water body.

2.2 Aquifer Description & Superficial Deposits

Mapping from the Geological Society of Ireland (GSI, 2022 <u>http://www.gsi.ie</u>, accessed on 24-08-2022) indicates the bedrock underlying the site is part of the Lucan Formation (code CDLUCN) and made up of dark limestone and shale (Calp). The lithological description comprises dark-grey to black, fine-grained, occasionally cherty, micritic limestones that weather paler, usually to pale grey. There are rare dark coarser grained calcarenitic limestones, sometimes graded, and interbedded dark-grey calcar. The beds are predominantly fine-grained distal turbidites in the north Dublin Basin. The formation is intermittently exposed on the coast between Rush and Drumanagh Head. The formation ranges from 300m to 800m in thickness. The GSI also classifies the principal aquifer types in Ireland as:

- Lk Locally Important Aquifer Karstified
- LI Locally Important Aquifer Bedrock which is Moderately Productive only in Local Zones
- Lm Locally Important Aquifer Bedrock which is Generally Moderately Productive
- PI Poor Aquifer Bedrock which is Generally Unproductive except for Local Zones
- Pu Poor Aquifer Bedrock which is Generally Unproductive
- Rkd Regionally Important Aquifer (karstified diffuse)

Presently, from the GSI (2022) National Bedrock Aquifer Map, the GSI classifies the bedrock aquifer beneath the subject site as a '*Locally Important Aquifer – Bedrock which is Moderately Productive only in Local Zones*'. The proposed development is within the '*Swords*' groundwater body (Ground Waterbody Code: IE_EA_G_011) and is classified under the WFD Status 2013-2018 (EPA, 2022) as having '*Good status*' and a WFD Risk Score of '*Not as Risk*'.

Aquifer vulnerability is a term used to represent the intrinsic geological and hydrological characteristics that determine the ease with which groundwater may be contaminated generally by human activities. The GSI (2022) guidance presently classifies the bedrock aquifer in the region of the subject site as having '*Low*' and vulnerability which indicates a general overburden depth potential greater than 10m, indicating that the aquifer is naturally well protected by low permeability tills. The GSI The aquifer vulnerability class in the region of the site is presented as Figure 2.1 below.



Figure 2.1 Aquifer Vulnerability (source: GSI, 2022)

The GSI/ Teagasc (2022) mapping database of the quaternary sediments in the area of the subject site indicates the principal subsoil type in the residential area comprises till Carboniferous (TLs i.e. Till derived from limestones).

3.0 CONCEPTUAL SITE MODEL

A conceptual site model (CSM) is developed based on a good understanding of the hydrological and hydrogeological environment, plausible sources of impact and knowledge of receptor requirements. This in turn allows possible Source Pathway Receptor (S-P-R) linkages to be identified. If no S-P-R linkages are identified, then there is no risk to identified receptors.

3.1 Assessment of Plausible Sources

Potential sources during both the construction and operational phases are considered. For the purposes of undertaking the potential of any hydrological/ hydrogeological S-P-R linkages, all potential sources of contamination are considered *without taking account of* any measures intended to avoid or reduce harmful effects of the proposed project (mitigation measures) i.e. a worst-case scenario. Construction sources (short-term) and operational sources (long-term) are considered below.

Construction Phase

The following potential sources are considered plausible risk scenarios for the proposed construction site:

(i) Hydrocarbons or any hazardous chemicals will be stored in specific bunded areas. Refuelling of plant and machinery will also be carried out in bunded areas to minimise risk of any potential being discharged from the site. As a worst-case

scenario, a rupture of a 1,000-litre tank to ground is considered in this analysis which disregards the effect of bunding. This would be a single short-term event.

- Leakage may occur from construction site equipment. As a worst-case scenario an unmitigated leak of 300 litres is considered. This would be a single shortterm event.
- (iii) Use of wet cement is a requirement during construction. Run-off water from recent cemented areas will result in highly alkaline water with high pH. As this would only occur during particular phases of work this is again considered as a single short-term event rather than an ongoing event.
- (iv) Construction requires soil excavation and removal. Unmitigated run-off could contain a high concentration of suspended solids and contaminants such as hydrocarbons during earthworks, given the presence of contamination beneath the site according to site investigations. These could be considered intermittent short-term events, i.e. on the basis that adequate mitigation measures which are already incorporated in the Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) fail.
- (v) During the excavations for foundations and basements, no significant dewatering is expected given the low permeability overburden underlying the site.

Operational Phase

The following sources are considered plausible post construction:

- (i) The Masterplan development does not require any bulk chemical storage and therefore the potential for water quality impact is negligible.
- (ii) Leakage of petrol/ diesel fuel may occur from individual cars in parking areas; run-off may contain a worst-case scenario of 70 litres for example.
- (iii) The stormwater drainage system will follow SuDS measures and an underground attenuation system. This system has been designed in order to discharge following the characteristics of a greenfield run-off into the public sewer. As such the potential for silt laden runoff is low. It should be noted that the worst-case scenario (70 litres) under consideration here disregards the effect of SuDS and petrol interceptors.
- (iv) The Masterplan development will be fully serviced with separate foul and stormwater sewers which will have adequate capacity for the facility and discharge limits as required by Irish Water licencing requirements. Discharge from the site to the public foul sewer will be sewage and grey water only due to the residential nature of the Proposed Development. The foul discharge from the site will join the public sewer and will be treated at the Irish Water Ringsend Wastewater Treatment Plant (WWTP) prior to subsequent discharge to Dublin Bay. This WWTP is required to operate under an EPA licence (D0034-01) and meet environmental legislative requirements as set out in such licence. It is noted that a planning permission for a new upgrade to this facility was received in 2019 and is currently in the process of construction/ implementation.

This plant operates under an EPA licence (D0034-01) and is currently in the process of being upgraded to a PE of 2.4million to meet the increased demand of the Dublin area. The most recent Annual Environmental Report (AER 2020)

shows it is currently operating for a PE peak loading of 2.27million while originally designed for 1.64million. However, the current maximum hydraulic load (832,269 m³/day) is less than the peak hydraulic capacity as constructed (959,040 m³/day) i.e. prior to any upgrade works.

Irish Water is working to provide infrastructure to achieve compliance with the Urban Wastewater Treatment Directive for a population equivalent of 2.1million in the second half of 2023. When all the proposed works are complete in 2025, the Ringsend Wastewater Treatment Plant will be able to treat wastewater for up to 2.4 million population equivalent.

These upgrade works (described in section 3.4 below) have commenced and comprise a number of phases and are ongoing and expected to be fully completed by 2025.

3.2 Assessment of Pathways

The following pathways have been considered within this assessment with impact assessment presented in Section 3.4:

The potential for offsite migration due to any construction discharges is low as there is no significant pathway in the aquifer or through land ditches or streams.

- (i) Vertical migration to the underlying Limestone is minimised due to the recorded 'Low' vulnerability present at the site resulting in good aquifer protection from any localised diesel/ fuel oil spills during either construction or operational phases. The site is underlain by [generally low permeable] Limestone which the GSI classifies as a Locally Important Aquifer (This aquifer is characterised by discrete local fracturing with little connectivity rather than large connected fractures which are more indicative of Regional Aquifers. As such, flow paths are generally local.
- (ii) There is no direct hydrological linkage for construction and operation run-off or any small hydrocarbon leaks from the site to the identified surface waterbodies located farther downgradient (Fairyhouse Stream) or the Malahide Estuary. There is an indirect connection as storm water discharges into an existing public sewer which ultimately discharges to the Fairyhouse Stream and ultimately into the Malahide Estuary and Irish Sea.
- (iii) There is no direct pathway for foul sewage to any receiving water body. There is however an 'indirect pathway' through the public foul sewer which ultimately discharges to the Ringsend WWTP prior to final discharge to Dublin Bay post treatment.

3.3 Assessment of Receptors

The receptors considered in this assessment include the following:

- (i) Underlying limestone bedrock aquifer;
- (ii) Malahide Estuary SAC (site code: 0205) and SPA (site code: 4025).
- (iii) South Dublin Bay and River Tolka Estuary SPA (site code: 4024), and the South Dublin Bay SAC (site code: 0210).

Other Natura 2000 Sites within Dublin Bay that may be hydrologically connected to the proposed development site, but are located further away (North Dublin Bay SAC (site code: 0206), the North Bull Island SPA (site code: 4006), Rockabill to Dalkey Island SAC (site code: 3000) and Lambay Islands SAC (site code: 0204) and SPA

(site code: 4069)) were excluded from the assessment due to their distance from the subject site, the potential loading of contaminant from the site (risk scenarios presented in Section 3.1) and significant dilution through its pathway.

3.4 Assessment of Source Pathway Receptor Linkages

Table 3.1 below summarises the plausible pollutant linkages (S-P-R) considered as part of the assessment and a review of the assessed risk is also summarised below.

The potential for impact on the aquifer is low based on the absence of any bulk chemical storage on site. The overburden thickness, low permeability nature of till and a lack of fracture connectivity within the limestone will minimise the rate of off-site migration for any indirect discharges to ground at the site. As such there is no potential for a change in the groundwater body status or significant source pathway linkage through the aquifer to any Natura 2000 site.

During construction phase, there is no direct open-water pathway between the site and Natura 2000 sites within Malahide Estuary or South Dublin Bay. However, there is an indirect pathway through the public surface sewer which discharges into the Fairyhouse Stream. Should any silt-laden stormwater from construction or hydrocarbon-contaminated water from a construction vehicle leak/tank leak manage to enter into the surface water sewer, the suspended solids will naturally settle within the sewer; however, in the event of a worst case hydrocarbon leak of 1,000 litres this would be diluted to background levels (water quality objectives as outlined in S.I. No. 272 of 2009, S.I. No. 386 of 2015 and S.I. No. 77 of 2019) by the time the stormwater reaches the nearest Natura 2000 Sites (Malahide Estuary SAC/SPA, c. 12.6 km downgradient).

During operation, the potential for a release is low as there is no bulk fuel/chemical storage and no silt laden run-off. Stormwater will be collected by a drainage system which includes SuDS measures, an attenuation system and oil/ petrol interceptors prior to discharge off-site (albeit these measures have been disregarded for this analysis). In addition, the potential for hydrocarbon discharge is quite minimal based on an individual vehicle (70 litres) leak being the only source for hydrocarbon release. However, even if the operation of the proposed SuDS and interceptor systems are excluded from consideration, there is no likely impact above water quality objectives as outlined in S.I. No. 272 of 2009, S.I. No. 386 of 2015 and S.I. No. 77 of 2019) in the worst case scenarios described above at section 3.2 and there will be no significant effect on any European site. The volume of contaminant release is low and combined with the significant attenuation within the stormwater drainage network, hydrocarbons will dilute to background levels with no likely impact above water quality objectives as outlined in S.I. No. 272 of 2009, S.I. No. 386 of 2015 and S.I. No. 77 of 2019 at any Natura 2000 sites.

It can be concluded that the in-combination effects of surface water arising from the Masterplan taken together with that of other permitted developments will not be significant based on the in-combination low potential chemical and sediment expected loading. Therefore, based on the loading of any hazardous material considered in the worst case scenarios mentioned in Section 3.1 above during construction and operation phases, there is subsequently no potential for impact on downgradient Natura 2000 habitats (Malahide Estuary, located c. 12.6 km from the site).

The peak wastewater discharge is calculated at 28.26 l/s. The sewage discharge will be licensed by Irish Water, collected in public sewers and and ultimately treated at Irish Water's WWTP at Ringsend prior to discharge to Dublin Bay. As outlined in section 3.1 (iv), upgrade works commenced in 2018 and are expected to be fully

completed by 2025. The upgrade works will result in treatment of sewage to a higher quality than current, thereby ensuring effluent discharge to Dublin Bay will comply with the Urban Wastewater Treatment Directive for a population equivalent of 2.1 million by Q4 2023.

The project is being progressed in stages to ensure that the plant continues to treat wastewater to the current treatment levels throughout the delivery of the upgrade. The project comprises three key elements and underpinning these is a substantial programme of ancillary works:

- Provision of additional secondary treatment capacity with nutrient reduction (400,000 population equivalent);
- Upgrade of the 24 existing secondary treatment tanks to provide additional capacity and nutrient reduction, which is essential to protect the nutrient-sensitive Dublin Bay area; and
- Provision of a new phosphorous recovery process.

In February 2018, the work commenced on the first element, the construction of a new 400,000 population equivalent extension at the Ringsend Wastewater Treatment Plant. After commissioning stages, the Capacity Upgrade facility began accepting flows for treatment in November 2021). This facility will enable current treatment levels to be maintained during the remainder of the upgrade of the existing secondary treatment tanks.

The 2019 planning permission facilitated upgrading works to meet nitrogen and phosphorus standards set out in the licence, which are temporarily exceeded currently. Works on the first of four contracts to retrofit the existing treatment tanks with aerobic granular sludge technology commenced in November 2020 and was completed in December 2021. In September 2021, the second contract was awarded and its construction works commenced in November 2021 and is expected to take approximately 2 years to complete. In November 2021, the third contract was awarded and its Construction works are anticipated to commence in late 2022. The fourth contract is scheduled to commence in mid-2023.

The application for the upgrade of the WWTP in 2012 and the revised upgrade in 2018 was supported by a detailed EIAR. As outlined in the EIAR, modelling of water quality in Dublin Bay has shown that the upgrades (which are now currently underway) will result in improved water quality within Dublin Bay. The 2018 EIAR predicts that the improvement in effluent quality achieved by the upgrade will compensate for the increase in flow through the plant. The ABP inspector's report summarises the positive findings of the modelling for the post WWTP upgrade scenario on Dublin Bay water quality in sections 12.3.5 and 12.3.12 of his report and the overall positive impact for human health and the environment in his conclusions in section 12.9.1.

In addition, the EIAR report acknowledges that under the do-nothing scenario "the areas in the Tolka Estuary and North Bull Island channel will continue to be affected by the cumulative nutrient loads from the river Liffey and Tolka and the effluent from the Ringsend WWTP", which could result in a deterioration of the biological status of Dublin Bay (Irish Water, 2018). Nevertheless, these negative impacts of nutrient overenrichment are considered "unlikely" (Irish Water, 2018). This is because historical data suggests that pollution in Dublin Bay has had little or no effect on the composition and richness of the benthic macroinvertebrate fauna. Therefore, the do-nothing scenario predicts that nutrient and suspended solid loads from the WWTP will "continue at the same levels and the impact of these loadings should maintain the same level of effects on marine biodiversity". Therefore, it can be concluded that significant effects on the current status of the European sites within Dublin Bay from the current operation of Ringsend WWTP are unlikely. This conclusion is not dependent upon any future works to be undertaken at Ringsend.

Even without treatment at the Ringsend WWTP, the peak effluent discharge, calculated for the proposed development as 28.26 l/s (which would equate to 0.25% of the licensed discharge at Ringsend WWTP [peak hydraulic capacity]), would not have a measurable impact on the overall water quality within Dublin Bay and therefore would not have an impact on the current Water Body Status (as defined within the Water Framework Directive). This assessment is supported by hydrodynamic and chemical modelling within Dublin Bay which has shown that there is significant dilution for contaminants of concern (DIN and MRP) available quite close to the outfall for the treatment plant (Ringsend WWTP 2012 EIS, Ringsend WWTP 2018 EIAR; refer to Section 12.4.22, ABP-301798-18 Inspector's report). The most recent water quality assessment of Dublin Bay WFD Waterbody undertaken by the EPA (Water Quality in 2020: An Indicator Report, 2021) also shows that Dublin Bay on the whole, currently has an 'Unpolluted' water quality status (refer to www.catchments.ie).

With regard to bathing waters in Dublin Bay, as mentioned above the Proposed Development will have no impact on the water quality in any overflow situation apart from a minor contribution (0.25% of the peak hydraulic capacity at Ringsend WWTP) from foul sewage.

It should be noted that the Ringsend WWTP upgrade has experienced capacity issues during rainfall events and therefore overflows can occur following periods of heavy rainfall. These overflows occur as a result of the impact on treatment capacity during heavy rainfall events due to surges primarily caused by the historical combined drainage system in Dublin. As the Proposed Development will not contribute any additional stormwater drainage to the WWTP over the natural greenfield rate, the development will therefore have no measurable impact on the water quality in any overflow situation.

The assessment has also considered the effect of cumulative events, such as release of sediment laden water combined with a hydrocarbon leak on site (1,000 litres as a worst case scenario during the construction phase). As there is adequate assimilation and dilution between the site and the Natura 2000 sites (Dublin Bay, which is c. 23 km from the site), it is concluded that no perceptible impact on water quality would occur at the Natura 2000 sites as a result of the construction or operation of this Proposed Development. It can also be concluded that the cumulative or incombination effects of effluent arising from the Proposed Development with that of other permitted proposed developments, or with development planned pursuant to statutory plans in the greater Dublin, Meath and Kildare areas, which will be discharged into Ringsend WWTP will not be significant having regard to the size of the calculated discharge from the Proposed Development and having regard to the following:

- Recent water quality assessment for Dublin Bay shows that they currently continue to meet the criteria for 'Unpolluted' water quality status (EPA, data until July 2021).
- The Ringsend WWTP upgrade which is currently being constructed will result in improved water quality by Q4 2023 (for a population of 2.1 million) and 2025 (for a population of 2.4 million) to ensure compliance with Water Framework Directive requirements.
- All new developments are required to comply with SuDS which ensures

management of run-off rate within the catchment of Ringsend WWTP.

• The natural characteristics of Dublin Bay result in enriched water rapidly mixing and degrading such that the plume has no appreciable effect on water quality at Natura 2000 sites.

As the Proposed Development will have no additional stormwater run-off during a stormwater event over and above the current level, surface water run-off from the development in the operational phase will therefore have no impact on the current water quality in any overflow situation at Dublin Bay.

It should also be noted that the bathing status has no direct relevance to the water quality status of the Natura sites due to rapid mixing and dilution resulting in no measurable change in water quality within the overall water body.

In addition, there is no long term discharge planned which could have an impact on the status of the water body. In the scenario of an accidental release (unmitigated leaks mentioned above) there is potential for a temporary impact only which would not be of a sufficient magnitude to effect a change in the current water body status.

Finally, in a worst-case scenario of an unmitigated leak and not considering the operation of the SuDS measures already included in the design, no perceptible risk to any Natura 2000 Sites is anticipated given the distance from source to Malahide Estuary protected areas (c. 12.6km). Potential contaminant loading will be attenuated, diluted and dispersed near source area.

Source	Pathways	Receptors considered	Risk of Impact				
	Construction	mpacts (Summary)					
Unmitigated leak from an oil tank to ground/ unmitigated leak from construction vehicle (1,000 litres worst case scenario).	Bedrock protected by >10m low permeability overburden. Migration within weathered/ less competent limestone is low (limestone has discrete local fracturing rather than large connected fractures).	Limestone bedrock aquifer (Locally Important Aquifer)	Low risk of migration through poorly connected fracturing within the limestone rock mass (Locally Important Aquifer). No likely impact on the status of the aquifer/off site migration due to low potential loading, natural attenuation within overburden and discrete nature of fracturing reducing off site migration.				
Discharge to ground of runoff water with High pH from cement process/ hydrocarbons from construction vehicles/run-off containing a high concentration of suspended solids	Indirect pathway through stormwater drainage and river network to Malahide Estuary (distance source- receptor: >12.6km)	Malahide Estuary SAC/ SPA	Potential for local temporary exceedances of statutory water quality standards at outfall. However, no perceptible risk to water requirements for the Natura 2000 sites in Malahide Estuary based on loading and high level of dilution in the surface water sewer and on the distance of c. 12.6 km between the source and the estuary.				
Operational Impacts (Summary)							
Foul effluent discharge to sewer	Indirect pathway to South Dublin Bay through public sewer	South Dublin Bay SAC/SPA/pNHA	No perceptible risk – Even without treatment at Ringsend WWTP, the peak effluent discharge (28.26 l/sec which would equate to 0.25% of the licensed discharge at Ringsend WWTP); would not impact on the				

			overall water quality within Dublin Bay and therefore would not have an impact on the current Water Body Status (as defined within the Water Framework Directive).
Discharge to ground of hydrocarbons from carpark leak (70 litres worst case scenario)	Indirect pathway through stormwater drainage and river network to Malahide Estuary (distance source- receptor: >12.6km)	Malahide Estuary SAC/ SPA	No perceptible risk – taking into account the extent of loading of contaminant, distance between the source and Malahide Estuary is c. 12.6 km and significant dilution in the surface water sewer, Fairyhouse Stream and Broadmeadows River will ensure any released hydrocarbons are at background levels (i.e., with no likely impact above water quality objectives as outlined in S.I. No. 272 of 2009, S.I. No. 386 of 2015 and S.I. No. 77 of 2019).

 Table 3.1
 Pollutant Linkage Assessment (without mitigation)

4.0 CONCLUSIONS

A conceptual site model (CSM) has been prepared following a desk top review of the site and surrounding environs. Based on this CSM, plausible Source-Pathway-Receptor linkages have been assessed assuming an absence of any measures intended to avoid or reduce harmful effects of the proposed project (i.e. mitigation measures) in place at the proposed development site.

During construction and operation phases there is no direct source pathway linkage between the Masterplan site and open waters. There is no direct source pathway linkage between the Masterplan site and any Natura 2000 sites (i.e. Malahide Estuary SAC/SPA and South Dublin Bay SAC/SPA/pNHA). There are indirect source pathway linkage from the Masterplan development through the public stormwater sewer which discharges into the Fairyhouse Stream and ultimately to Malahide Estuary, and the foul sewer which will eventually discharges to the Ringsend WWTP and ultimately discharges to South Dublin Bay. The future development has a peak foul discharge that would equate to 0.25% of the licensed discharge at Ringsend WWTP (peak hydraulic capacity).

Even disregarding the operation of design measures including SuDS and an attenuation system and petrol interceptors on site, it is concluded that there will be imperceptible impacts from the proposed Masterplan to the water bodies due to emissions from the site stormwater drainage infrastructure to the wider drainage network. It should be noted the proposal also includes permeable paving, an attenuation system and petrol interceptors as part of best practice project design, and these features will provide additional filtration from the site to the drainage network.

It is concluded that there are no pollutant linkages as a result of the construction or operation of the Proposed Development which could result in a water quality impact which could alter the habitat requirements of the Natura 2000 sites within Malahide Estuary and South Dublin Bay.

Finally, and in line with good practice, appropriate and effective mitigation measures will be included in the construction design, management of construction programme

and during the operational phase of the proposed development. With regard the construction phase, adequate mitigation measures will be incorporated in the Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP). These specific measures will provide further protection to the receiving soil and water environments. However, the protection of downstream European sites is in no way reliant on these measures and they have not been taken into account in this assessment.

5.0 **REFERENCES**

EPA, (2022). Environmental Protection Agency. Available on-line at: <u>https://gis.epa.ie/EPAMaps/</u> [Accessed: 24-08-2022].

GSI, (2022). Geological Survey of Ireland; Available on-line at: <u>http://www.gsi.ie</u> [Accessed: 24-08-2022].

NPWS, (2022). National Parks & Wildlife Service. Available on-line at: <u>http://webgis.npws.ie/npwsviewer/</u> [Accessed: 24-08-2022].

Irish Water (2021). Ringsend Wastewater Treatment Plant Annual Environmental Report 2020.

Irish Water (2018) Ringsend Wastewater treatment plant Upgrade Project Environmental Impact Assessment Report.

Inspector's Report – ABP-301798-18. 10-year permission for development of the Ringsend wastewater treatment plant upgrade project including a regional biosolids storage facility.

Board Order and Report of Inspector – ABP-301798-18. 10-year permission for development of the Ringsend wastewater treatment plant upgrade project including a regional biosolids storage facility.

Davey & Smith Architects (2021). Masterplan Lands at Milltown, Ashbourne.

DBFL Consulting Engineers (2022). Infrastructure Design Report. Lands at Cherry Lane, Ashbourne, Co, Meath.

DBFL Consulting Engineers (2022). Site Specific Flood Risk Assessment. Lands at Cherry Lane, Ashbourne, Co, Meath.